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	SCOTT E. LINKE, 

          Employee, 

              Claimant,

          v. 

WASSER & WINTERS CO., INC.,

          Employer,

          and 

ALASKA NATIONAL INS. CO.,

          Insurer,

               Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200507724
AWCB Decision No.  09-0202
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on December 23, 2009.


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the claimant’s workers’ compensation claim on June 18, 2009, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Michael Patterson represented the employee (claimant).  Attorney Robert McLaughlin represented the employer and insurer (employer).  

Six lay witnesses testified in the proceedings, 23 expert witnesses provided evidence in the case, either by report, testimony at hearing, or testimony by deposition.

Lay witnesses:

Mr. Linke at hearing and by deposition

Mr. Hammer, Mr. Waxler, Mr. Keaton, Ms. Williams, and Mr. De April at hearing

Treating or Consulting Health Care Providers:

Paul Allen, M.D., by report.

Laura Connolly, OTR, by report and deposition

Sue Doucette, AuD., by report, at hearing and by deposition

Leslie Goldmann, PhD, by report and by deposition

Robert Grimm, M.D., by report, at hearing and by deposition

Leo Kesting, M.D., by report

Joseph Mulrean, DMD, by report

Richard Perrillo, PhD., by report, at hearing and by deposition 

Mark Rakow, DDS, by report and by deposition

Rajnish Rohila, DDS, by report and by deposition

Gwendolyn Schauer, D.C., by report and by deposition

Holly Tanner, physical therapist, by report.

Peter van der Ven, DMD, PhD, by report and by deposition

Second Independent Medical Evaluation (SIME) physicians:

Ronald Early, M.D., by report, at hearing and by deposition

James Klein, DDS, M.D., by report and by deposition

John Lipon, M.D., by report and at hearing.

Employer Medical Evaluation (EME) physicians:

Lance Brigham, M.D., by report and by deposition

May Huang, M.D., by report, at hearing and by deposition

Rick LaMarche, D.C., by report and by deposition

Jean Millican, M.D., by report and by deposition

Kenneth Muscatel, PhD, by report, at hearing and by deposition

Robert Rappaport, M.D., by report, at hearing and by deposition

Ralph Zech, M.D., by report.

The record was held open for two weeks for the submission of Mr. Patterson’s supplemental affidavit of attorney fees and costs.  The record closed on July 3, 2009.


ISSUES
The claimant contends his compensation rate should be calculated pursuant to 
AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(A) or AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(B), as his status as a union member makes him an hourly worker, not an exclusively seasonal or temporary worker.  The employer contends the claimant’s compensation rate should be calculated according to AS 23.30.220(a)(6), as he was employed as an exclusively seasonal worker at the time of his injury.

1. At the time of his work injury, was the claimant an hourly worker or an exclusively seasonal, temporary worker?

2. Should the claimant’s compensation rate be calculated pursuant to AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(A), AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(B), or AS 23.30.220(a)(6)?

The claimant contends he is entitled to temporary total disability (TTD) benefits from October 25, 2005, and ongoing.  The employer contends the claimant was medically stable and able to return to his job at the time of injury as of October 25, 2005. 

3. Is the claimant entitled to TTD benefits after October 25, 2005?

The claimant maintains he is entitled to past and ongoing medical benefits, including transportation costs, for his work injuries.  The employer contends the claimant’s work injuries have all resolved and require no further treatment.

4. Is the claimant entitled to past and ongoing medical benefits?

The claimant argues he is entitled to reemployment benefits, as he is unable to return to his job at the time of injury, or any other job he held ten years prior to the date of his work injury, as a result of the work injury on May 24, 2005.  The employer contends the claimant is not entitled to reemployment benefits, as he is able to return to his job at the time of injury without restrictions.

5. Is the claimant entitled to reemployment benefits?

6. Is the claimant entitled to reasonable attorney fees and costs?  


FINDINGS OF FACT

Based on the preponderance of the evidence
 available in the record, the Board finds:

1. On October 5, 1989, the claimant was injured while working on a construction job.
  He subsequently developed neck and back pain.  In an evaluation by Stephen Klein, M.D., on January 3, 1990, Dr. Klein noted Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI) testing showed a somatization pattern, and he opined that without intervention, the claimant had the potential to become a chronic pain patient.
  The claimant underwent physical therapy and participated in rehabilitation and pain management programs.
  He also received chiropractic treatment.
  The claimant underwent several independent medical evaluations (IME) at the request of the Washington State Labor and Industry (L&I) authorities to evaluate his condition.  On July 25, 1990, the IME physicians concluded the claimant suffered from a chronic lumbar strain, wholly related to the work injury, and that he had reached medical stability and required no further active treatment.
  An IME conducted on March 24, 1992 also concluded the claimant’s injury was medically stable and required no further treatment.  The March 24, 1992 panel opined it was the claimant’s deconditioning that restricted his activity level rather than evidence on neurologic or orthopedic examination or X-ray.
  The claimant had an additional injury from a slip and fall at home on June 19, 1992, which aggravated his low back condition.
  Yet another IME panel on December 12, 1992 reached a similar conclusion as the prior two panels.
  The claimant eventually obtained his commercial driving license and was working as a truck driver when he was involved in a motor vehicle accident on May 14, 1993, which aggravated his low back pain, as well as other injuries.
  He received further chiropractic treatment and was released to work on January 11, 1994.
  On September 15, 1997, the claimant was at work driving a truck when he was involved in another motor vehicle accident, after which he complained of neck and back pain, with pain radiating into the right buttock, and numbness in the arms bilaterally.
  The claimant was released to work on October.31, 1997.
  In 1999, the claimant was in another motor vehicle accident in which both his ankles were sprained, and he could not drive because he had to wear boots on his ankles.  He was off work for four to five months and went back to work in early 2000.

2. The claimant became a member of the Teamsters Union.  He was dispatched twice in 2002, seven times in 2003, and twice in 2004 for union work, and worked 790 hours straight time and 245 hours overtime for Scarcella Brothers in 2004 and 2005.  

3. When he went to work for the employer, he was in good standing with the Teamsters, as he took a withdrawal from the union to take the job with the employer.
  As a member in good standing at the time of withdrawal from the union, the claimant was allowed to go back to the union for work if the employer stopped its logging operation.
  

4. The claimant testified the employer told him the job at Icy Bay was a full-time job for three years, and although he wasn’t sure it was for twelve months a year, he was not worried about the job shutting down.
  He also testified he knows now, after the fact, that logging in Southeast Alaska is considered seasonal.

5. The claimant worked for Hos Brothers from June 2004 to September 2004, earning $13,915.69.  His total earnings for 2004 from Hos Brothers and Scarcella Brothers were $32,887.64.  His earnings from Scarcella Brothers in 2005 were $11,578.81, $2, 744.52 of which was for the period from March 5, 2005 through March 19, 2005.  His earnings from the employer from April 5, 2005 to May 24, 2005 were $15,228.50.

6. Glen Hammer, the shop foreman at the employer’s site in Icy Bay, testified the work there was generally seasonal, from February or March to November or December.
  He also testified the claimant was a really good worker, doing his own work on his truck, as well as helping other people.  The claimant was easy to get along with, and Mr. Hammer wished there were more people like him.  In addition, he testified the claimant was a great big, strong guy who could do just about anything and did not have any physical limitations that he was aware of.
  

7. Mr. Hammer is credible,
 based upon his personal knowledge of the claimant and his work for the employer.

8. Mike Waxler, the truck boss at the employer’s Icy Bay work camp, testified he had known the claimant since 2004, when they met while both were working for Scarcella Brothers.
  He testified the claimant was a big, strong guy in great physical condition.  He was a good worker and a good driver, which was why Mr. Waxler offered him a job with the employer.  Mr. Waxler testified the claimant was hired for the employer as a log truck driver for a period of three years.  He testified the job would be for ten months out of the year, or twelve months if the weather permitted.  Mr. Waxler also testified Glen Hammer is a better judge than he himself of what the season for the employer is and how long it lasts.  Mr. Waxler further testified he has seen the claimant since the work injury, and he is miserable now, whereas when he knew him at Scarcella Brothers and at the employer’s, he was a happy guy.
  

9. Mr. Waxler is credible,
 based upon his personal knowledge of the claimant and work for the employer.

10. Steve Keaton has known the claimant since he was eleven years old.  He testified he was also a member of the Teamsters Union and worked with the claimant at Scarcella Brothers.
  He testified the claimant is a good and very hard worker.  He testified he had never heard the claimant complain about much at all, but after the May 24, 2005 work injury, the claimant complained of a lot of pain all the time.  Mr. Keaton testified prior to the May 24, 2005 work injury, the claimant was very good-natured and used to tell jokes all the time.  Now, however, he is laid back, doesn’t say much, and is a totally different person.
  

11. Mr. Keaton is credible,
 based on his personal knowledge of the claimant and his work at Scarcella Bros.

12. Candace Williams testified she is currently employed as a projects coordinator at Washington Energy Services and has known the claimant for about four years.
  She testified she and the claimant were roommates for about one year prior to his May 24, 2005 work injury.  She testified prior to this work injury, the claimant did not have any impairments or disabilities and did not complain of low back pain.  Ms. Williams testified she has seen the claimant after the injury, as they are still friends, and the claimant’s family invites her over for get-togethers.  She testified the claimant complains of lower back pains, headaches, hearing loss, jaw pain, and vision loss.  He also complains of exhaustion and extreme depression.
  

13. Ms. Williams is credible,
 based upon her personal knowledge of the claimant.

14. John DeApril testified he worked as a warehouse manager, from 1997 to 1999, and knew the claimant when he was the lead driver for a trucking company the warehouse used for shipping.
  He testified he rated the claimant as a top driver who was always happy and joking around.  Mr. DeApril testified the claimant never complained of any medical problems.  He saw the claimant outside of work, as they would get together for dinner or just to hang out.  Mr. DeApril testified he would re-hire the claimant.
  

15. Mr. DeApril is credible,
 based upon his personal knowledge of the claimant.

16. On May 24, 2005, the claimant was injured while working as a truck driver for the employer in Icy Bay, Alaska.
  He was driving a logging truck with a log trailer that weighed from 4,600 to 6,500 pounds.
  The log trailer shifted and required adjustment.
  He and a co-worker were attempting to adjust the trailer using a large beam when the injury occurred.
  When applying leverage, the claimant was bending forward over the beam.
  Suddenly the beam hit him in the chin, picking him up and knocking him backwards.
  The claimant testified he reached out and grabbed the beam and held onto it to try to get his bearings.
  He testified he began to walk around in a semi-circle, spitting pieces of teeth out of his mouth, then returned to the log trailer to try to get coherent.
  He experienced a severe headache, ringing in his ears, and pain in his mouth, jaw, head and neck.  
17. The claimant reported the injury on May 24, 2005, and the Report of Occupational Injury or Illness (ROI) was signed by the employer on May 25, 2005, and filed with the Board on May 27, 2005.
  
18. The claimant flew out of Icy Bay and into Seattle, Washington, on May 24, 2005.  The claimant received treatment for the dental injuries as well as the jaw and neck pain.  
19. When he testified at the hearing held on December 20, 2007, the claimant described the symptoms from the injury that he was then experiencing, including: ringing in both his ears, all day long, every day; constant neck pain; headaches in his temples; jaw pain with eating, which had improved somewhat since the time of the work injury; broken teeth in his upper right jaw; numbness from the nipples up; and numbness in his hands and feet.  He testified he spends 95% of his time lying down.  The claimant testified he had tried working, adjusting the brakes on a truck, but when he was underneath the truck, he felt as though he were going to pass out.  He broke into a sweat and had to go to the bathroom immediately.  The claimant testified he could drive, but not for long distances, as it bothered him to be in traffic.  He also testified he has trouble sleeping at night.  
20. When he testified at the hearing held on June 17, 2009, the claimant described the symptoms from the injury that he then experienced:  constant ringing in his ears, and sometimes ear pain; balance problems; neck pain, and a lipoma on his collar bone, which pulls on his neck and shoulder.  He testified he is unable to work because of his constant headaches, neck pain, constant ringing in his ears, and ear pain.  The claimant also testified he becomes nauseated when he tries to use his arms.  In addition, he testified his eyes hurt, as he has to use them to maintain his balance.  The claimant testified that before the May 24, 2005 work injury, he could do pretty much everything he wanted to do, except lift heavy objects.  He testified he is still treating with Dr. Schauer three times per week.

21. The claimant testified he would be willing to participate in a neuro-exercise program as recommended by Dr. Perrillo (see below), and cognitive behavioral therapy as recommended by Dr. Early (see below).

22. The claimant disputed EME Dr. Huang’s report (see below) that he marched in place unaided with his eyes closed.  He testified he did march in place with his eyes closed, but he was touching the wall at all times.  

23. The claimant is credible,
 based upon his straightforward demeanor and forthright and consistent answers to questions during his testimony.
24. On May 26, 2005, Mark Rakow, DDS, began treatment of the claimant’s teeth and jaw injuries.  Dr. Rakow found the claimant’s jaw was displaced, and referred the claimant to an oral surgeon.  

25. In his report of the same day, oral surgeon Joseph Mulrean, DMD, opined the jaw was not fractured.  

26. Dr. Rakow testified in his November 1, 2006 deposition that the claimant at first had very limited ability to open his jaw and a lot of pain, so he waited a period of time before he was able to treat him.  Dr. Rakow testified he referred the claimant to endodontist Gary Meyers, DDS.  Dr. Rakow testified tooth #12 was fractured and restored with a root canal, and tooth #14 was fractured and restored with a crown.  Teeth #’s 23 and 26 were fractured on the edges and restored with fillings.  In addition, two fractured wisdom teeth were extracted.  He also testified the claimant had constant pain in his teeth in response to temperature change.  

27. Dr. Rakow testified he last treated the claimant in June 2006, when he adjusted his night guard for his TMJ symptoms.  At that time, the claimant still complained of some sensitivity in his teeth, and his main concern was jaw pain and the sense his jaw had permanently shifted to the right.  Dr. Rakow opined whether TMJ interferes with a person’s ability to perform activities of daily living, including work, depends on the severity, as in some people TMJ can cause so much stress on the jaw it can cause headaches, including migraines.  Dr. Rakow rated the claimant’s TMJ at a 6/10 in severity.

28. On June 6, 2005, Gwendolyn Schauer, D.C., evaluated the claimant for neck pain related to his May 24, 2005 work injury.  The claimant reported bilateral jaw pain, jaw pressure, ringing in the ears, headache and neck pain on the right, and swelling under the chin.  Dr. Schauer noted spasm of the suboccipital muscles on the right with swelling, and moderate to marked increase in muscle tension in the muscles of the neck, as well as loss of motion.  Loss of the normal cervical lordosis was also found.  Dr. Schauer planned to treat the claimant twice per week for three weeks, then reassess.  An x-ray of the cervical spine showed minimal degenerative changes and a small anterior osteophyte formation at C5-C6.
  On June 23, 2005, Dr. Schauer referred the claimant for massage therapy, as the muscle tension in the neck and upper back was not releasing.  In addition, she referred him for evaluation of the tinnitus.  She also restricted the claimant from working.

29. On July 27, 2005, Gerald Randolph, M.D., an otolaryngologist, evaluated the claimant on referral from Dr. Schauer.  Dr. Randolph diagnosed bilateral sensorineural hearing loss and tinnitus.  Because the hearing loss did not involve the 4,000 cycle per second range, he opined it was unlikely to be related to past industrial noise exposure.  He indicated the tinnitus was interfering with aspects of the claimant’s normal daily living, as he was having difficulty understanding conversation, especially in the right ear.  The tinnitus also interfered with sleep.  Dr. Randolph rated the claimant’s permanent partial impairment (PPI) due to tinnitus at 2% at the time of the evaluation, but also opined the condition was not medically stable and might diminish over 18 months.  He did not recommend any treatment for either the hearing loss or tinnitus.
30. On September 13, 2005, Dr. Schauer re-evaluated the claimant.  She reported the claimant was still experiencing significant neck and jaw pain, ringing in the ears, and loss of sleep due to pain.  Although the claimant reported improvement with chiropractic, massage and physical therapy, the pain worsened at night.  Dr. Schauer ordered a cervical spine MRI and referred the claimant to a physiatrist for evaluation.

31. On September 15, 2005, Mr. Linke was evaluated by Paul Allen, M.D., a physical medicine specialist.  The claimant described neck pain, midback pain and low back pain.  He stated that the tooth pain had “calmed down” and had retreated to only hot and cold sensitivity.  Dr. Allen noted the claimant was using a mouth guard prescribed by Dr. Rakow.  The claimant described to Dr. Allen a feeling that his jaw was “out of place” but no jaw fracture had been identified.  The claimant reported feeling anxious and fidgety at night, and had done so since the injury.  Dr. Allen reviewed the September 15, 2005 cervical spine MRI, which he interpreted as demonstrating a disk protrusion at C4-5 with some mild to moderate neural foraminal narrowing at C6-7 as well as a mild protrusion of the disk at that level.  At C4-5 Dr. Allen felt that the disk protrusion might contact the cord.  Dr. Allen described the claimant’s anxiety as “7/10” and depression “4/10”.  He also described tinnitus which had been present since the injury.  Dr. Allen planned to provide trigger point injections to relieve muscle spasm in multiple areas of the neck and shoulders.  

32. On October 3, 2005, Dr. Allen recorded the claimant’s complaints of increase in low back pain since the May 24, 2005 work injury, although he had a previous low back injury in 1989 and chronic low back pain since that time.  Dr. Allen concluded there was an aggravation of lumbar spine symptoms following the work injury as well as aggravation of the cervical degenerative disk disease resulting from the May 24, 2005 injury.  Dr. Allen planned additional lumbar studies. He also considered providing an epidural steroid injection at C6-7 as well as other trigger point injections.  Over a number of weeks, Dr. Allen continued to perform trigger point injections and the claimant continued in chiropractic care.  On October 14, 2005, Dr. Allen wrote that the claimant said he thought he was improving. A trigger point injection was prepared prior to chiropractic treatment later in the day.  Dr. Allen stated the lumbar aggravation was a consequence of the work injury and he recommended a lumbar MRI be performed, but there was concern the MRI might not be covered by the Worker’s Compensation Program.  Dr. Allen noted the claimant was participating in physical therapy, two times per week, as well as receiving chiropractic care.  He opined trigger point injections prior to chiropractic treatment as the injections would help loosen the muscles, leading to better chiropractic adjustments.

33. On October 25, 2005, at the request of the employer, orthopedist Lance Brigham, M.D., chiropractor Rick Lewis LaMarche, D.C., and dentist Ralph Zech, D.D.S., M.S. evaluated the claimant in an EME.  They documented the claimant was under continued treatment with Dr. Allen and also continued chiropractic care three times per week.  The claimant continued to complain of pain in the teeth, jaw, neck, low back, shoulder blades and ears. The claimant described constant neck pain from the top of his head, radiating down his back and front to the level of the shoulder blades as well as pins and needles from the proximal elbows down the forearms to all of the fingers bilaterally.  The examiners noted the claimant’s description of those symptoms was consistent with a stocking/glove fashion.  The claimant also described pins and needles sensation over the posterior thigh and calf down to both feet to his toes, which varied in intensity.  The examiners diagnosed a temporary aggravation of pre-existing degenerative disk disease of the cervical spine as a result of the work injury, and they opined the injury was fixed and stable as of October 25, 2005, and gave a PPI of 0% of the whole person.  They did not recommend any further treatment for the cervical spine.  The examiners concluded the claimant’s lumbar back pain was not related to the work injury, nor did the work injury temporarily or permanently aggravate the claimant’s prior chronic lumbar back pain, because it was not reported until several months after the work injury.  The examiners did not recommend any treatment for the low back.  Further, Dr. Brigham and Dr. LaMarche opined the claimant would be able to return to his job at the time of injury, as to his cervical spine injury.

34. The EME examiners concluded the work injury caused the claimant’s teeth and mandible injuries.  Dr. Zech opined the breakage to tooth #32, the root canal done on tooth #12, and possible internal derangement were related to the work injury.  He noted the claimant’s mandibular range of motion was below what was reasonable for his size and recommended an MRI of the temporomandibular joints.  He opined the work injury might have induced some adhesive capsulitis.  If the MRI was negative, he indicated the jaw complaints would be muscle related.  Dr. Zech suggested the claimant might need further root canals, and that the tooth sensitivity was probably because of poor hygiene.  Dr. Zech opined the claimant’s teeth condition was probably medically stable, but his jaw was not.  He also opined the claimant’s teeth and jaw problems would not prevent his return to his job as a logging truck driver.

35. On October 31, 2005, Dr. Allen saw the claimant and administered the fourth trigger point injection procedure in multiple tender areas of the soft tissue.  He noted tight cervical paraspinal musculature with myofascial hypertrophy at the base of the skull bilaterally and reduced cervical lordosis.  Dr. Allen opined the claimant was not medically stable and could not return to his job at the time of injury.

36. On November 8, 2005, the claimant was evaluated by Dr. Leo Kesting, a neurologist.  Dr. Kesting described tingling in both upper extremities and in the legs below the knees.  He also documented low back pain which was of 8/10 intensity but without radicular component.  He continued to have bitemporal headaches which were constant and of a severity, initially of about 8/10 and daily.  However, they decreased to about 3 times per week but had become more severe, throbbing and lasting 1-2 hours.  Dr. Kesting diagnosed hand paresthesias which might be related to carpal tunnel syndrome, as well as peripheral neuropathy as possible considerations. He planned additional testing.  

37. On November 18, 2005, Dr. Allen saw the claimant.  Dr. Allen indicated the claimant complained of a significant increase in his chronic low back pain since the May 24, 2005 work injury, in addition to his ongoing neck pain and upper extremity symptoms.  Dr. Allen documented treatment with Vicodin 1-2 at night and noted the claimant had not requested additional pain medications.  Dr. Allen opined there was additional injury to the lumbar disk, and that central disk herniation can cause similar pain pattern to that described by the claimant.  He requested a lumbar MRI, which was performed on November 16, 2005, and was normal.

38. On November 28, 2005, Dr. Schauer criticized the October 25, 2005 EME report, stating the cervical spine condition was not medically stable.  She opined there was restriction and an increase in muscle tension at C1 and C4-5, with pain to palpation.  She opined his headaches were caused by the suboccipital muscle tension and loss of motion at C1.  Dr. Schauer also maintained driving a logging truck would further aggravate the claimant’s neck problems.

39. On December 7, 2005, Dr. Kesting conducted electrodiagnostic studies on the claimant and diagnosed minimal bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome affecting sensory and motor components.  He also diagnosed possible cervical spinal cord contusion with sensory dysesthesia.

40. On December 9, 2005, Dr. Allen critiqued the October 25, 2005 EME report, stating while the EME examiners decided the lumbar spine problems were not related to the work injury due to a several month delay in reporting this problem, the claimant had reported mid back and low back pain on his first visit on September 15, 2005.  In addition, he opined the claimant’s cervical spine pain was continuing, so it was not medically stable and it was too early to determine whether or not this was a permanent or temporary aggravation.

41. On December 9, 2005, physical therapist (PT) Holly Tanner indicated the claimant had been participating in physical therapy since August 3, 2005.  He had been treated with manual therapies to active trigger points and hypertonic muscles, received instruction in self-treatment techniques including postural correction, stretches, self-releases to soft tissues, relaxation techniques, diaphragmatic breathing and modalities such as heat, cold and electrical stimulation.  She maintained the claimant had progressed from being unable to chew to being able to eat most foods with minimal challenge.  PT Tanner stated the claimant had become deconditioned, and strengthening had become the focus of therapy in the recent weeks, although this therapy had to be modified, as bilateral overhead activity aggravated the neck and head pain significantly.  She maintained the claimant continued to have significant neck and upper extremity complaints.  In addition, she opined the claimant’s low back pain had been aggravated by the May 24, 2005 work injury.  PT Tanner opined if the jaw pain was caused by the work injury, it was only logical to include the head and neck in the determination, as the muscles that attach to the mandible also attach to the head and cervical spine.  She further opined the claimant would not be able to work at full duty until he had completed additional strengthening and therapies for his severe pain.

42. On December 20, 2005, Dr. Zech wrote an addendum indicating the MRI scan of the temporomandibular joints did not reveal any displacement.  He rated the claimant’s PPI for the TMJ at 0%.  On December 22, 2005, Dr. Zech opined treatment for the claimant’s teeth and jaw disabilities was completed.

43. On February 6, 2006, PT Tanner discharged the claimant from physical therapy, as he had not scheduled further appointments.

44. On February 10, 2006, Dr. Schauer noted the claimant had not had massage or physical therapy as his claim had been closed.  She continued to treat him, however, as he had jaw, neck, and lower back pain and loss of function.  Dr. Schauer maintained the claimant’s condition was worsening as there was no concurrent muscle work.  She opined he was unable to work at his job at the time of injury due to pain and limited motion.

45. On April 25, 2006, at the request of the employer, the claimant was again evaluated in an EME by orthopedist Dr. Brigham, neurologist Dr. Millican, and chiropractor Dr. LaMarche.  The examiners noted Dr Schauer’s records indicated the claimant had increased headaches and pain in the cervical area, jaw, and ears, and pins and needles in both arms from the elbows to the tips of the fingers.  The EME examiners made no changes from their previous recommendations.

46. Dr. LaMarche’s deposition was taken on December 6, 2007.  The opinions expressed in his deposition were similar to those in his October 2005 and April 2006 EME reports.  He testified using activator treatments (a spring-loaded device used in place of adjustment) in the claimant’s case, as Dr. Schauer was doing, would not likely be effective, as he was a large man with a lot of soft tissue, and it would be difficult for the activator to get through all that soft tissue to the bone.  He testified it would be difficult to look for muscle spasms or hypertonicity on the claimant, because of his size.  Dr. LaMarche testified the overall flavor of the April 2006 examination was the objective findings were a little bit better, but the claimant’s response to test maneuvers showed his condition had actually worsened, and he was a little more reluctant to allow certain maneuvers to be done, anticipating discomfort.  

47. On April 27, 2006, James Klein, D.D.S., M.D., who is a dentist, oral maxilla facial surgeon, and otolaryngologist, evaluated the claimant at the board’s request in a second independent medical evaluation (SIME).  Dr. Klein noted the claimant continued to complain of severe masticator muscle spasms although the claimant said he was able to eat and his ability to eat had substantially improved since the dental treatment.  The claimant described the tinnitus as present constantly.  He was no longer wearing night guards and continued to complain of cervical pain.  Dr. Klein concluded the claimant suffered from persistent bilateral temporomandibular myofascial pain as well as bilateral tinnitus and high frequency sensorineural hearing loss.  He was unable to reach a conclusion about the cause of the hearing loss or the tinnitus.  However, he noted neither was observed prior to the work injury of 2005.  Dr. Klein concluded the temporomandibular condition required additional treatment and noted that masticator and TMJ symptoms could be aggravated by persistent cervical myofascial dysfunction.  He recommended more vigorous, ongoing supervised treatment for the claimant’s TMJ and cervical symptoms.  Dr. Klein opined the claimant could not work as a truck driver or mechanic at the time of his evaluation, but two to three months of intense therapy should allow him to return to work.

48. On May 13, 2006, at the board’s request, John Lipon, D.O., an orthopedic surgeon, evaluated the claimant in an SIME.  Dr. Lipon documented the claimant was not taking any routine medications.  He noted decreased sensation to light touch and pinprick from about an inch below the elbows and extending into the fingers.  Above that area the claimant described normal sensation.  Dr. Lipon noted complaints of pain in response to light pressure to the neck from the base of the neck bilaterally at the C6-7 level.  Dr. Lipon concluded there was a cervical thoracic strain/sprain related to the 2005 work injury with pre-existing degenerative cervical spine disease.  For the lower extremities Dr. Lipon documented normal sensation in the anterior medial, lateral and posterior thighs.  However, to light touch and pinprick he noted decreased sensation like a numbness and feeling of ants running through his legs, similar to what he has in his arms.  Dr. Lipon indicated this was a global distribution involving the claimant’s legs from the knees down to and including all of his toes.  Dr. Lipon concluded he had no objective evidence to explain the complaints of pain in the neck, upper back, sternum, right shoulder and upper extremities or the weakness and tingling in the upper extremities.  He opined no additional treatment was necessary for the cervical and thoracic strain/sprain as related to the May 24, 2005 injury. 

49. On May 22, 2006 Dr. Schauer responded to Dr. Lipon’s SIME report.  She expressed surprise that Dr. Lipon was unable to find any objective evidence. She maintained the claimant had muscle spasm in the anterior and posterior scalenes, sternocleidomastoid (SCM), and the platysmus, as wells as the levator scapula on the right and the right paralumbar muscles to the right of L5.  She also maintained the claimant had intersegmental restrictions at C1-2, C5, T1 and L5, whereas Dr. Lipon opined there was no evidence of intersegmental restrictions.  Dr. Schauer maintained the lumbar spine pain was related to the work injury.  She also stated she felt the upper extremity pain was related to his neck condition, but that carpal tunnel was unlikely.

50. On May 23, 2006, SIME physician Dr. Lipon reviewed additional records.  He specifically addressed the report by Dr. Klein regarding the TMJ and additional treatment, concluding there had been no aggravation of the cervical degenerative disk disease as a result of the work injury and re-stating his belief the cervical and thoracic sprain/strain conditions had reached medical stability because he found no objective evidence to support further treatment.  Dr. Lipon noted Dr. Klein’s opinion stating that masticator and TMJ symptoms could be aggravated by persistent cervical myofascial dysfunction and Dr. Klein’s acknowledgment treatment of cervical spine and soft tissue injuries needed to be evaluated by a qualified orthopedist or neurosurgeon.

51. Dr. Lipon testified at the December 20, 2007 hearing, and his hearing testimony was consistent with his SIME report and addendum.  He testified the claimant’s mild CTS was not related to the work injury.  Dr. Lipon testified the claimant was medically stable at the time of the October 25, 2005 EME, and he was able to return to his job at the time of injury at that time as well.

52. On July 3, 2006, EME physician Dr. Zech, an oral and maxillofacial surgeon, responded to Dr. Klein’s report.  He concurred with Dr. Klein, with the exception that he thought the claimant could return to work, but not as a truck driver.  

53. On July 3, 2006, the chiropractor, Dr. Schauer, also responded to Dr. Klein’s report.  She requested authorization for the claimant to see a neurologist and recommended physical therapy.  She referred the claimant to Dr. Puziss on July 20, 2006, and to Dr. Robert Grimm on September 6, 2006.

54. On November 2, 2006, Dr. Schauer was deposed, and her deposition testimony was generally consistent with her medical reports.  She testified she had been practicing in the field of chiropractic care since 1991.  She initially evaluated the claimant after his work injury on June 6, 2005, and at first treated him two times a week, increasing to three times per week when he did not improve.  Dr. Schauer also continued to treat the claimant after his claim was controverted in November 2005, as no one else was treating him.  She testified she remembered he first complained of low back pain on July 12, 2005 by putting it on his complaint form, but she did not address the issue until later that month.  She testified up until that time his complaints were all jaw and neck, and headaches.  Dr. Schauer testified the claimant is improving, as the muscle tension and spasm are lessening.  She testified the claimant would not be able to return to his job as a truck driver and mechanic, as truck driving causes too much bouncing, and even with good mirrors, too much neck motion is required.  Dr. Schauer testified she is treating the claimant frequently based on the fact she is the only one who is seeing him, and he needs to see other providers as she has requested.  She testified he might need surgery and medication, and he would also need physical therapy that focuses on myofascial release, but it would depend on the neurological evaluation.  Dr. Schauer also testified the claimant is not a complainer or symptom magnifier, and she found him to be credible in reporting his injuries.

55. Dr. Schauer is credible,
 based upon her expertise and many years of practice in chiropractic and her familiarity with the claimant.

56. On November 2, 2006 neurologist Robert Grimm, M.D., evaluated the claimant on referral from Paul Puziss, M.D., and Dr. Schauer.  On physical examination Dr. Grimm noted the claimant lost his balance when performing the Romberg test, heel to toe, with eyes closed.  Sensory examination of the forearms, fingers, lower legs, feet and toes revealed symmetrical stocking-glove pattern loss of sharp, temperature, and distal vibratory sensation.  Dr. Grimm opined this appeared to be a central nervous system sensory loss.  After extensive testing, including electrocochleography
 (ECOG) and posturography, which tests balance, performed by Dr. Doucette (see below), Dr. Grimm concluded that the claimant had diffuse losses to both cochlear structures with marked bilateral endolymphatic hydrops (EDH), which is a swelling in the inner ear.  He also diagnosed the claimant as having bilateral moderate to severe sensorineural hearing loss with other abnormalities of the tympanic membrane and acoustical reflex capabilities.  He described losses sufficient to render him dependent on vision for his balance and concluded those findings were consistent with clinical symptoms and findings following the work injury.  

57. On December 8, 2006, on referral from Dr. Grimm, the claimant had vestibular studies under the direction of Sue Doucette, PhD., a doctor of Audiology.  She found he had slight to moderate sensori-neural loss in both ears.  ECOG testing revealed elevated pressures in each ear, consistent with elevated EDH.  Posturography studies showed three falls in three tests in condition 4, and significant sways in condition 6, with a score of 52/72.  She concluded the claimant’s balance was abnormal and the center of gravity was variable.  She recommended vestibular rehabilitation therapy.

58. On follow-up on January 22, 2007, Dr. Grimm instructed the claimant on the management of EDH, including low salt diet and the avoidance of certain medications.  Dr. Grimm planned to refer the claimant for neuropsychological testing, as inner ear losses are consistently associated with difficulties of concentration, attention, multitasking, and fatigue.  He diagnosed the claimant as follows:  1) status post mandibular TMJ and dental trauma with loss of teeth; 2) post traumatic chronic headache secondary to head, neck and inner ear injuries due to the work injury; 3) status post head trauma, inner ear concussion, traumatic tinnitus, sensorineural hearing losses, and labyrinth losses, and vision dependent balance; 4) status post TMJ, unresolved; 5) cervical spine aggravation of preexisting cervical spine osteodegenerative changes; and 6) post work injury gastric reflux.  He opined once the claimant’s TMJ was stabilized, inner ear testing complete and the EDH and tinnitus managed, issues of long range prospects for management, prognosis, and vocational rehabilitation could be addressed.

59. At the next follow-up appointment on April 3, 2007, Dr. Grimm noted no fundamental change in the claimant’s clinical symptoms or neurological findings.  On June 19, 2007, Dr. Grimm noted the claimant had been diagnosed with diabetes about four months previously and was now taking the medication Metformin for glucose control.  The claimant complained of bilateral leg numbness, chronic headaches, jaw and mouth pain, including two upper right teeth that remained painful, and trouble chewing, as well as dysfunction in daily activities.  Dr. Grimm recommended that the claimant find a primary care physician to integrate care, and also again recommended neuropsychological testing.  

60. Dr. Grimm testified at the hearings on December 20, 2007 and June 18, 2009.  He testified he did not believe the claimant had Meniere’s disease as he had no family history of the disease.  He testified the sensory loss in the claimant’s face was due to trigeminal nerve injury from the work injury.  He testified the posturography testing, which demonstrated the claimant’s vestibular problems, cannot be faked, as any voluntary response is too slow.  In addition, he testified there was no suggestion of the claimant’s faking his responses in this testing, and there was nothing to indicate he gave anything but a straightforward, honest effort, his best effort on each occasion.  Dr. Grimm testified the inner ear circuitry is responsible for the control of the neck and back muscles, and when the inner ear is damaged, the muscles tighten down and the lordotic curve of the cervical spine is lost.  Dr. Grimm also testified the patterns of sensory loss the claimant experiences in his extremities, trunk and face might be central losses, not peripheral nerve losses, which is why they do not follow the symmetrical patterns to which orthopedic and chiropractic specialists are accustomed.  Dr. Grimm testified he felt Dr. Huang’s report (see below) was lacking in detail and unclear.  Dr. Grimm testified the claimant’s report of the dizziness that is a symptom of EDH may have been delayed due to his preoccupation with the pain from the work injury.  However, he indicated tinnitus was one of the claimant’s first complaints after the injury, and that meant damage to the cochlea.  He also testified EDH may not appear until after a year’s time.  Dr. Grimm testified the cause of the injury to the inner ear was the enormous force of the blow to his chin, which damaged the hair cells of his inner ear, both in the cochlear portion and vestibular portion.  He testified he considered malingering in his evaluation of the claimant, and he saw him several times and never saw a suggestion of malingering.  Dr. Grimm testified the claimant’s reliance on vision for his balance causes him to be more at risk for falls.  He testified when inner ear function is lost, there is a drop in cognitive efficiency which looks like adult attention deficit disorder.  Dr. Grimm testified the claimant was not employable because of his neuro-cognitive deficits, balance problems, and pain.

61. Dr. Grimm is credible,
 based on his expertise in neurology and many years experience in the evaluation of patients with whiplash and inner ear injuries.

62. On January 13, 2007, Peter van der Ven, DMD, PhD, who specializes in oral medicine, evaluated the claimant for TMJ and related issues, on referral from Dr. Mulrean.  He reported the claimant complained it felt was though his jaw was sitting to the right and he bit his cheek and tongue accidentally, which he had not done prior to the work injury.  He also complained of bilateral facial pain in the cheeks and temples, pain, pressure and throbbing around his ears, and tender knots under his jaw.  In addition, the claimant complained of pain in several upper right teeth when eating hard foods.  Dr. van der Ven noted the claimant had recently been diagnosed with diabetes.  On physical examination, Dr. van der Ven noted masseter muscle enlargement, reduced sensation to light touch in the lower two-thirds of the face bilaterally, tenderness to palpation of the muscles of the posterior neck and shoulders, and moderate to severe tenderness of the muscles of mastication.  He also found the temporomandibular joints were tender over their lateral and posterior aspects, and jaw opening was limited to 29 mm without increased pain, with a deviation to the left.  Assisted jaw opening was limited to 35 mm, with severe bilateral pain.  On x-ray, a narrowing of the left TM joint space was noted.  Dr. van der Ven concluded there was possible left TMJ with chronic non-reducing disk placement as well as bilateral TMJ arthralgias.  He also described masticatory myalgia, chronic daily headache, cervicalgia and possible injury to the olfactory nerve.  Dr. van der Ven also diagnosed subjective malocclusion or occlusal dysesthesia, possible bruxism, and possible diabetic neuropathy involving hands and feet, and poor sleep.  Dr. van der Ven counseled the claimant and offered pain medication, which the claimant refused.  He prescribed the muscle relaxant cyclobenzarpine.  He recommended the use of heat and cold and physical therapy.  Dr. van der Ven also recommended evaluation for depression and anxiety which could be the result of chronic pain, multiple medical problems and inability to work. 

63. Dr. van der Ven was deposed on November 5, 2007, and his deposition testimony was consistent with his January 26, 2007 report.  He testified most normal adult males would be able to open their mouths to 45 mm.  He testified the main finding from his examination was of very significant pain in the jaw muscles as well as some joint tenderness.  Dr. van der Ven testified when a group of teeth are temperature sensitive, it is likely due to a generalized condition like periodontal disease or excessive clenching.  He opined it would be unusual for TMJ alone to keep a person from working, but if the claimant had to take pain medication, it could keep him from driving.

64. Between January 16, 2007 and February 27, 2007 Mr. Linke was evaluated by the Panel of Consultants in an EME.  The evaluators were neurologist Jean Millican, M.D., otolaryngologist James Rockwell, M.D., and Ralph Zech, D.D.S., M.S.  Dr. Millican, in the January/February 2007 EME report, described decreased touch diffusely over the face, neck, both arms and upper chest and upper torso without clear demarcation of the torso.  She also stated that touch was intact but that sharp was decreased diffusely over both arms, in the upper torso to approximately the T- 12 level in the front and T-8 in the back.  Dr. Millican documented that sharp was decreased distally in the legs to about midcalf and temperature was decreased in the upper body and both arms but somewhat less than sharp.  Dr. Millican disagreed with Dr. Puziss’ opinion that the claimant’s upper extremity symptoms were related to the neck injury.  Dr. Millican concluded they were related to carpal tunnel syndrome which was unrelated to the work injury.  Dr. Millican diagnosed the claimant as follows:  1) low back pain dating to the 1989 injury, with some degree of ongoing symptoms, preexisting; 2) preexisting degenerative changes in the cervical spine; 3) cervical sprain related to the work injury; and 4) history of injury to the teeth and jaws.  Dr. Millican recommended an MRI scan of the brain, which was performed on January 24, 2007, and was normal.  She also recommended neuropsychological testing, which was performed on January 24, 2007 by Dr. Muscatel (see below), and showed no cognitive deficit.  After reviewing these results, Dr. Millican opined the claimant had nonanatomic and progressive sensory loss and based on this, the normal MRI and the results of the neuropsychological testing, suspected a substantial nonphysiologic component to the claimant’s complaints.  Dr. Millican also opined that although the claimant’s cervical spine injury might be a cause for his headaches, she could not say that it was on a more probable than not basis.  She opined no further neurologic treatment was indicated for the claimant.

65. Dr. Rockwell concluded that the sensorineural hearing loss and tinnitus were both bilateral and were the result of the May 24, 2005 injury.  He was also unable to conclude that the headache disorder was related to the cervical sprain because of non-physiologic findings.  

66. Dr. Zech indicated the claimant complained of sharp pain in his upper and lower teeth on the right when he bites hard, bitemporal headaches, constant tinnitus, and bad balance.  He noted the claimant was able to open his mouth to 40 mm.  Dr. Zech did not note any pain response on palpation of the TM joints, although the claimant did report pain on palpation of certain facial muscles, the right posterior mandible, and the left masseter muscle.  Dr. Zech opined the claimant had completed necessary treatment for his TMJ effects, and the pain in his teeth was caused by preexisting periodontal disease and not related to the work injury.  Additionally, Dr. Zech opined the headaches were not related to the TMJ, although he had no explanation for them.  Consistent with his December 20, 2005 report, he opined the claimant had no impairment related to his TMJ.

67. Dr. Brigham was deposed on December 6, 2007, and his deposition testimony was consistent with his October 2005 and April 2006 EME reports.
  He testified he did not find any abnormalities on orthopedic examination.  He testified the reason he found the lumbar spine disability and need for medical treatment were not related to the work injury was because the claimant’s first complaints to health care providers was in September 2005.  Dr. Brigham testified there were no new findings on his April 2006 examination as compared with the October 2005 examination.  He testified the loss of the lordotic curve is found in normal individuals, but can also be caused by muscle spasm, or soft-tissue injury.

68. On January 27, 2007, on referral from EME physician Dr. Millican, the claimant was evaluated by Dr. Kenneth Muscatel, a neuropsychologist.  Dr. Muscatel conducted a standard, comprehensive neuropsychological test battery.  The results were interpreted as showing an impairment index of 0.7 consistent with a mild impairment in cognitive functioning.  He also noted a test that revealed an IQ in the low average range.  Dr. Muscatel concluded the client’s oral reading score was at a 9th grade level, spelling score at a 6th grade level and arithmetic score at an 8th grade level.  Dr. Muscatel interpreted the client’s MMPI as “consistent with an individual with a histrionic response to stress and somatic with a tendency to deny and repress uncomfortable thoughts and feelings.”  He also described “prominent conversion V profile configuration.”  Dr. Muscatel described the claimant as anxious, mildly paranoid with persecutory thoughts and feelings as well as feelings of depression. The Beck Depression Inventory was also consistent with clinical depression.  Dr. Muscatel diagnosed Depressive Disorder, NOS with anxiety features and Pain Disorder, Associated with Psychological Factors and a General Medical Condition.  He found no personality disorder and no evidence of organic brain injury causing cognitive dysfunction.

69. Dr. Muscatel testified at hearing on December 20, 2007, and his testimony was consistent with his medical reports.  Dr. Muscatel testified he did not administer the neuropsychological tests himself, and it is standard practice in his field for the testing to be administered by a psychometrist.

70. In a February 27, 2007 addendum to her most recent EME report, Dr. Millican reviewed Dr. Grimm’s reports and concluded that his assessments were out of her area of expertise. She also reviewed Dr. Muscatel’s report and concluded that any cognitive complaints were more likely the result of psychological issues than organic causes.

71. Dr. Millican testified by deposition on December 3, 2007, and in general her testimony was consistent with her April 2006 EME report, January 2007 EME report and February 2007 addendum thereto.  She explained that some of the findings on the April 2006 exam, such as the decreased sharp sensation in the entire face, but decreased temperature sensation in the lower face only, as well as the loss of sensation in a stocking glove fashion in the extremities were inconsistent, or not based on physiology.  Dr. Millican testified these nonphysiologic findings tended to support the conclusion the complaints were in excess of objectively documentable abnormalities.  Dr. Millican testified the Romberg test, with eyes closed, was negative.  She testified the claimant’s low back pain was not related to the work injury, in part because he did not complain of low back pain until approximately 60 days after the injury.  She testified the neurologic examination was without objective abnormalities, and she believed the May 24, 2005 work injury caused a cervical sprain, but no brain, spinal cord, or nerve injury.  Dr. Millican testified the fact the claimant did not lose consciousness as the result of the work injury tends to support a milder impact to the brain.  She testified the claimant had no PPI from a neurological standpoint as a result of the work injury, and no restrictions on work activities on a neurological basis.

72. On April 3, 2007, Dr. Schauer wrote a letter indicating that the findings had remained consistent throughout the period of treatment since the injury although there has been some decrease in the intensity of the spasms.  She concluded that the persistent pain must be because of some kind of neurological damage to his neck.  She described the claimant as extremely frustrated and angry because of persistent pain with a sleep pattern of about 2-3 hours per day. 

73. On July 2, 2007, psychologist Leslie Goldmann, Ph.D., evaluated the claimant, who was referred to him by Dr. Grimm, one of the claimant’s treating physicians.  On November 20, 2007, Dr. Goldmann stated he met with and interviewed the claimant and also reviewed the 12 page February 5, 2007 Neuropsychological Test Report prepared by Dr. Muscatel.  Dr. Goldmann opined the neuropsychological testing showed the claimant’s scores were in the average range, and combined with the fact the claimant did not lose consciousness at the time of his work injury, he concluded the claimant did not suffer from neurocognitive impairment.

74. Dr. Goldmann was deposed on December 17, 2007, and his testimony was consistent with his July 2, 2007 clinic note.  Dr. Goldmann testified he reviewed Dr. Muscatel’s February 5, 2007 report, including the neuropsychological testing done at Dr. Muscatel’s request.  He testified the neuropsychological testing did not reveal any clear neuropsychological deficits.  He testified the claimant was depressed, had a significant pain problem and sleep apnea, all of which could impact his neuropsychological test scores.  Dr. Goldmann opined the claimant’s IQ had not dropped as a result of the work injury in part because the vocabulary and information subtest scores were low, and those scores don’t usually drop even with head injuries.  He testified there is a small percentage of people who do not recover from mild traumatic brain injuries.  Dr. Goldmann further testified the claimant’s neuropsychological test results do not preclude the claimant from working, but his pain problem probably does.  Dr. Goldmann testified it is standard practice for the neuropsychological testing to be performed by a psychometrist.

75. On September 20, 2007, endodontist Rajnish Rohila, DDS evaluated the claimant’s complaints of hot and cold sensitivity in his upper right teeth, including teeth #2 and #3.
  He was deposed on December 11, 2007.
  Dr. Rohila testified the nerves of the teeth were healthy, and the sensitivity might be caused by cracks in those teeth, and the cracks were stained, indicating they were long-standing.  He testified the cracks might have been caused by excessive biting forces, normal wear and tear, or weakened tooth structure, as there was a large filling in one tooth.  Dr. Rohila also testified he was unaware the claimant had bruxism after the work injury, and he testified bruxism can cause teeth to crack.  In addition, he testified staining of cracks can occur over a span of two plus years.  Dr. Rohila testified the claimant requested he go on record to state the cracks and cold and hot sensitivity were a result of the trauma.

76. On October 30, 2007, the claimant was again evaluated by Dr. Zech.  There had been no treatment other than physical therapy and muscle relaxants since his previous evaluation. He concluded that dental caries and periodontal disease were not related to the work injury, but the breakage of tooth #32 and root canal in tooth #12 were related to the work injury.  Dr. Zech noted the claimant was able to open his mouth to 43mm midline without any discomfort, and he had no pain on palpation of the masticatory muscles except for the right masseter.  He noted biting pressure on teeth #2 and #3.  He concluded that the tooth pain and facial pain were probably related to the work injury, and the problem is finding the mechanism of injury.  He questioned whether the tooth pain was really dental in origin or a trigeminal neuralgia symptom related to trigeminal nerve damage.  Dr. Zech opined he would expect some disruption in the nervous system with the whiplash type injury the claimant suffered.  Concerning further treatment, Dr. Zech recommended physical therapy to the jaw structure three times per week for a month, although he doubted this would result in improvement.  He also suggested root canals or crowns to teeth #2 and #3, but cautioned that if the pain is indeed neurologic, it would have no effect on the pain patterns.  Dr. Zech maintained the claimant would be able to work as a mechanic.

77. On November 14 and 15, 2007, neuropsychologist Richard Perrillo evaluated the claimant, including neuropsychological testing.  Dr. Perrillo testified by deposition on December 14, 2007, and at hearing on December 20, 2007 and June 18, 2007.  Dr. Perrillo testified he measured the claimant’s premorbid intelligence quotient (IQ), by administering the standard test used for that purpose, the Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (WASI), in which the working memory index and the processing speed index are left out.  Both working memory and processing speed are sensitive to brain injury, so the premorbid IQ can be measured by leaving these two indices out.  Based on the WASI, the claimant’s pre-injury IQ was 100, and the current IQ is 81.  Dr. Perrillo testified the premorbid estimate of 100 IQ is consistent with the claimant’s general ability index.  Dr. Perrillo criticized Dr. Muscatel’s testing, as Dr. Muscatel did not administer the tests himself, and did not test the claimant’s premorbid IQ.  He also criticized Dr. Muscatel’s testing, as Dr. Muscatel’s testing showed three scores below the 16% and several scores below the 10%, and six scores below 5%, which is very rare.  All these are very low scores, yet Dr. Muscatel found the claimant did not have cognitive dysfunction.  Dr. Perrillo testified the claimant was not malingering, and Dr. Muscatel’s testing showed the same.  Dr. Perrillo testified brain function and effort both affect neuropsychological testing, but depression, anxiety and somatoform disorder do not.  Dr. Perrillo testified the claimant would benefit from a neuroexercise program, and that he could not work now because of decreased attention span and decreased cognitive reaction time.  

78. On November 29, 2007, Dr. Doucette again saw the claimant for audiology, ECOG and posturography evaluation.  She found the audiology evaluation was consistent with the previous evaluation of December 8, 2006.  The ECOG testing showed EDH for both ears, again consistent with the results of the previous year.  Posturography testing revealed abnormal motor coordination, and sensory organization and abnormal balance strategies.  She concluded the claimant’s balance was abnormal in all sensory conditions, and opined appropriate vestibular physical therapy might help him re-establish a more physiologically correct center of gravity and reduce his risk for falls.  Dr. Doucette indicated his performance was poorer than one year previously, and opined his physical discomfort from the previous day’s physical therapy evaluation at another establishment might be playing a role in the poorer performance.

79. Dr. Doucette’s testimony on June 17, 2009, was consistent with her medical reports.  She has been an audiologist for 23 years, and received her doctorate in audiology in 2006.  She works at the Legacy Labs at Good Samaritan Hospital in Tacoma, Washington.  Dr. Doucette performs vestibular testing daily in patients with head injury and whiplash.  She tested the claimant on December 8, 2006, and again on November 27, 2007, and found he had a significant balance disorder.  EDH is often accompanied fluctuating dizziness, problems with balance, and tinnitus.  EDH fluctuates, so a normal electrocochlear testing result on another occasion does not mean a person does not have the disorder.  She described the platform testing she did for the claimant’s vestibular function, in which six conditions of increasing difficulty are tested.  She testified the claimant carries his center of gravity on his heels, which puts him at risk for falls.  She testified there was no indication of aphysiologic responses in either the 2006 or 2007 testing, although in the 2007 testing there were two things that might suggest it.

80. Dr. Doucette testified she was familiar with PT Grove’s (see below) testing of the claimant, and opined PT Grove felt the claimant was not trying.  She testified she would need to know the claimant’s circumstances during the testing, and if he didn’t put forward his best effort, perhaps there was a reason for that, such as discomfort from physical therapy.

81. Dr. Doucette testified she did not agree with Dr. Klein’s opinion the claimant’s hearing loss was due to past industrial exposure, as the pattern of loss was not the notch pattern usually seen with industrial exposure.  She testified tinnitus is common with head injuries, and it can be disabling because it can decrease hearing, and interferes with sleep.

82. Dr. Doucette testified many with vestibular dysfunction do not have nystagmus if it is compensated.  Dr. Doucette testified testing does not indicate what caused the EDH, but it is not uncommon after trauma.  She further testified the claimant’s complaints were not consistent with Meniere’s disease.
  She testified it is not unusual for symptoms of EDH to develop one to two years after injury, and EDH may be caused by whiplash injuries.  Dr. Doucette testified the work injury was the cause of the claimant’s EDH, on a more probable than not basis.

83. Dr. Doucette is credible,
 based on her expertise in audiology and many years of experience in that field, including posturography testing.

84. On December 8, 2007, Dr. Grimm reviewed the vestibular lab results prepared by Dr. Doucette, and opined the three key abnormal tests from the previous year were repeated, showing virtual identical sensorineural hearing loss, elevated SP/AP ratios
 indicating EDH, and clear worsening of balance on posturography when having to depend on vestibular cues alone.  Dr. Grimm opined the claimant’s cochlear and vestibular losses were permanent and caused by the work injury.  He recommended followup review of care for the EDH and vestibular rehabilitation therapy.

85. On December 5, 2007, Dr. Schauer reported that the claimant’s headaches persisted and he continued to sleep only 2-3 hours per night.  She stated that the headaches were primarily from muscle spasms. She also was upset that her recommendations had been ignored as the doctors have chosen to rely only on MRI and x-ray findings.  She had referred the claimant for “myofascial and deep tissue release” but that had not occurred and she was distressed that her treatment recommendations had not been followed.

86. On December 13, 2007, at the request of the employer, May Huang, M.D., a neuro-otologist, evaluated the claimant in an EME.  The claimant told Dr. Huang he had continuing headaches and neck pain.  His cervical spine range of motion was reduced and it hurt him to hold his head upright.  Driving aggravated the headache and neck pain.  He reported that most of the day he remained supine as a result of the headache and neck pain.  He described photophobia with increased headache precipitated by light.  Dr. Huang reported that the claimant was unable to define a specific date when he began to have difficulties with balance and disequilibrium but thought it was sometime in 2006.  The claimant did not report any actual falls as a result of the dizziness, although he did “veer, or lean or sway” when walking.  He also reported having difficulty walking and in the shower if his eyes were shut.  During the physical examination, Dr. Huang noted the claimant was able to march in place with eyes closed for up to a minute without problems and that the Romberg test was unremarkable, although the claimant reported he felt as though he were leaning backwards when he closed his eyes.  When attempting to perform the sharpened Romberg, with the feet heel to toe, the claimant leaned back and grabbed the window sill when he closed his eyes.  

87. Dr. Huang had audiology testing performed on the claimant, which showed bilateral high frequency sensorineural hearing loss.  She also performed an ECOG, which demonstrated borderline hydrops on the left and was unremarkable on the right.  Electronystagmography showed no spontaneous nystagmus or static positional nystagmus.  The vestibular and balance physical therapy evaluation was performed by PT Julie Grove, a vestibular specialist as well as a physical therapist.  During computerized dynamic posturography, the claimant repeatedly touched the surround or wall with his arms when perturbations or sway-referenced tests were initiated, despite having a harness on that would have prevented his actual falling.  Dr. Huang opined the testing was overwhelmingly qualified by the claimant’s minimal effort.  Although near falls were documented on conditions 2, 4, 5 and 6, it was felt they were not true falls.  Although the sensory organization test showed a pattern of combined somatosensory, visual and vestibular deficits, with a composite score far below normal at 24/70, this was not felt to be consistent with his ability to independently ambulate.  The claimant was not considered to be at risk for falls.  Dr. Huang concluded there might be many causes for the problems with balance which would be unrelated to the work injury.  She concluded the claimant had chronic nonspecific disequilibrium, possible occult left EDH, likely well-compensated, and possible secondary gain or non-physiologic response.  She opined he did not need skilled physical therapy for his disequilibrium.  Dr. Huang opined the claimant had no PPI for a vestibular impairment, and no work restriction except for avoidance of driving, operating heavy machinery or working at heights when he felt dizzy.

88. Dr. Huang’s deposition took place on January 8, 2008, and her testimony was consistent with her December 13, 2007 EME report.  She testified the ECOG testing done in Portland showed small amplitude responses in both ears, which she opined made it difficult to obtain diagnostic information from that test.  She also testified the ECOG is better at ruling in disorders than ruling them out, particularly for fluctuating disorders.  She testified EDH is a clinical diagnosis, and ECOG testing can lend supporting evidence.  Dr. Huang testified in most cases the development of balance and dizziness problems over a year after an injury would be uncommon, except in delayed EDH.  She testified she does not feel the claimant’s clinical symptoms demonstrated overt EDH based on her examination and testing.  She also testified she would nearly completely rule out that he does have EDH.  Dr. Huang stated during her examination of the claimant, other than his grabbing the window sill at one point, she did not detect any overt or inappropriate responses.  She testified the findings concerning the claimant’s exhibiting signs of secondary gain were PT Grove’s findings.

89. Dr. Huang testified she did not know what caused the claimant’s hearing loss, and she could not rule the work injury in or out as a causative factor.

90. Dr. Huang also testified at the June 17, 2009 hearing, and this testimony was consistent with her EME report and prior deposition testimony.  She testified there was no definitive link between the work injury and the claimant’s complaints of disequilibrium.  Dr. Huang testified the absence of nystagmus when the claimant was experiencing disequilibrium and lightheadedness was a strong indicator his symptoms were not related to the vestibular system.  This is true as almost all vestibular etiologies with ongoing symptoms, when not compensated, will show evidence of nystagmus, regardless of etiology.  Dr. Huang testified it is uncommon for EDH to develop in both ears, and there is no test that can prove the EDH is both delayed and related to the work injury.  She testified ECOG testing fluctuates depending on the clinical activity of the disease, so that it can be positive some days and negative on others.  

91. Dr. Huang testified posturography, when administered by experienced clinicians, is rather good at detecting secondary gain, lack of effort or malingering.  She indicated the posturography performed by PT Grove showed the claimant met the criteria for aphysiologic performance using both Cevette and Mallinson criteria.  Dr. Huang testified she was not familiar with the posturography testing equipment used by PT Grove or Dr. Doucette.  

92. Dr. Huang testified tinnitus may be related to high frequency hearing loss, as they are almost always related.  She testified a blow to the head can cause tinnitus.

93. On January 14, 2008, Laura Connolly, a registered occupational therapist, evaluated the claimant on referral from Dr. van der Ven.  OTR Connolly noted the claimant complained of severe jaw and face pain, headaches, tooth pain, ear pain, tinnitus, and pain in his mouth and throat, as well as difficulty with balance, concentration, memory and insomnia.  He reported constant pain, at best 6/10 and at worst 9/10.  In addition, he complained of difficulties accomplishing activities of daily living (ADL), such as grooming and dressing, walking, and managing the homemaking activities.  Regarding his jaw pain, the claimant reported difficulty chewing, especially biting down, talking, yawning, and oral hygiene.  OTR Connolly assessed the claimant as having clinical signs of myofascial pain syndrome through all of his masticatory, facial and cervical muscles, as evidenced by taut bands with trigger points palpable in these muscles.  She opined the trigger points would have been activated by the original injury and can last for years without specific treatment.  She further opined the myofascial trigger points can explain many of the symptoms the claimant was experiencing, such as jaw pain, facial pain, headaches, neck, throat and mouth pain, tooth pain, ear pain and tinnitus.  OTR Connolly also indicated many of the claimant’s symptoms were referred from trigger points in his anterior and posterior cervical muscles, and these trigger points would have been activated during the initial accident.  She opined it would be necessary to treat the cervical muscles to relieve the TMJ.  

94. OTR Connolly provided therapy to the claimant for 50 visits from January 14, 2008 through August 5, 2008.  The treatments consisted of manual therapy including myofascial release, craniosacral therapy, trigger point release, joint mobilization, soft tissue mobilization, and massage.  Training in therapeutic exercise, self care management, neuromuscular re-education, therapeutic activities, and electrical stimulation were also provided.  OTR Connolly maintained the claimant had significant palpable changes in the cervical and masticatory musculature and a decrease in pain behaviors at the conclusion of therapy.  In addition, his jaw opening had increased by two millimeters.

95. On April 23, 2009, OTR Connolly testified by deposition, and her testimony was generally consistent with her clinical reports.  She testified she is a certified myofascial triggerpoint therapist, a specialty credential she obtained in 2007.  The primary goal of her therapy was to decrease pain.  She testified she was told to confine her therapy to the jaw, whereas she felt she could have been more successful if allowed to treat the neck as well.  She testified the claimant was improving with the therapy, with changes in the quality of the tissue and decreased severity in the triggerpoints of his jaw, face and neck muscles.  OTR Connolly disagreed with Dr. Lipon’s opinion and Dr. LaMarche’s opinion there was no muscle spasm in the claimant’s neck, as she felt there was significant spasm in his neck.  She explained that palpating hypertonicity or spasticity is subjective, depending on the person who is palpating, and that no objective measures, such as EMG testing, were taken in the claimant’s case.  In addition, triggerpoints will not show up on a CAT scan or MRI.  OTR Connolly opined the claimant’s myofascial pain syndrome is severe.  She testified many of the symptoms that are called TMJ may be myofascial symptoms, including tinnitus, ear pain, pain in the teeth, throat pain, and jaw and facial pain.  She recommended further treatment for the claimant’s myofascial pain syndrome, perhaps to include treatment by a neuromuscular dentist, who would use EMG findings to record the EMG readouts on the masticatory muscles and then use a neurostimulator to reduce those spasms.  She testified she would also continue the therapy she had been providing to the claimant, and she expected he would improve with continued treatment, but he would also require treatment for the psychological problems of depression and anxiety.  OTR Connolly opined as of the last time she saw him in August 2008, the claimant would not be able to work as a truck driver or operating heavy machinery because of his pain levels.

96. OTR Connolly is credible,
 based upon her expertise as an occupational therapist and specialty certification in myofascial pain problems.

97. On April 10, 2008, Dr. Peter van der Ven followed up with another report.  He concluded Mr. Linke required physical therapy and physical re-activation.  He noted the claimant was living with his parents and was trying to engage in physical activities.  He was limited by fear of falling, however. Dr. van der Ven recommended regular exercise.  He prescribed a treadmill for year round use.  He also commented on the claimant having depression as well as chronic pain.

98. Dr. van der Ven is credible,
 based on his expertise as a dentist specializing in oral medicine, and his knowledge of the claimant’s TMJ problems.

99. On June 12, 2008, Dr. Schauer wrote a report indicating that the claimant was seeing Laurie Connolly, an occupational therapist for treatment of the mandibular spasms and neck spasms.  She reported that the cervical spine function had improved as a result of treatment but that the neck was still sensitive to firm touch.  She described the possibility of cranial nerve impingement resulting in some of his symptoms as a result of skull displacement.  She concluded he was unable to perform the job he was doing at the time of injury or any other job.  She stated he would have a “long road” ahead for treatment.

100. On June 10, 2008, at the request of the employer, Dr. Brigham, Dr. LaMarche, and Dr. Millican, examined the claimant in another EME.  Dr. LaMarche noted the claimant’s gait was with excessive external rotation of the lower extremities, slow, broad-based, and appeared somewhat affected.  He indicated when viewed from the rear, the claimant’s left shoulder and right hemipelvis were slightly elevated, and there was a light degree of anterior head carriage.  Dr. LaMarche noted the claimant’s lower extremities were 1cm different in length, palpatory tenderness was reported in the scalenes, suboccipital musculature, interscapular musculature, and cervical and thoracic paraspinal musculature.  Palpation of the cervical spine did not reveal significant or focal cervical joint fixation or dysfunction, nor were there palpatory findings of intersegmental muscle spasm or hypertonicity.  Dr. Millican reported the claimant did not have any superficial tenderness over the head or face, but there was tenderness over the upper posterior neck below the base of the skull, over both temporomandibular joints, diffusely along the entire mandible and anterior submandibular area, as well as the anterior neck and sternal notch.  She did not find any muscle spasm.  She reported decreased sensation to all modalities globally in the upper trunk, arms, and head, to the level of the nipple, or T4 in front, and to T8 in the posterior.  Dr. Millican also reported decreased sensation in the legs to the mid calves.  They diagnosed the claimant with: 1) preexisting low back pain: 2) preexisting degenerative changes of the cervical spine; 3) cervical sprain, related to the work injury; 4) injury to the jaw and teeth, related to the work injury; 5) ongoing headaches and pain, historically dating to the work injury; 6) nonanatomic findings on exam with nonanatomic sensory loss and diffuse jaw tenderness; and 7) diabetes, unrelated to the work injury.  They opined the diagnoses were unchanged since the original 2005 EME report.  These examiners critiqued Dr. Grimm’s neurological assessment stating the cervical spine degenerative changes predated the work injury and there was no need for cervical spine surgery related to the work injury.  They stated interpretation of vestibular testing was outside their expertise.  Commenting on Dr. van der Ven’s reports and OTR Connolly’s reports was not within their expertise.  The examiners opined the claimant’s cervical strain did not result in any objective evidence of impairment, and he did not need any further treatment for the work injury.

101. On July 7, 2008, Dr. Klein opined the claimant’s complaints of altered sensation in his palate and posterior tongue are unrelated to his TMJ, and the complaints of difficulty swallowing are hard to explain, given the claimant’s report of weight gain.
  He maintained the multiple symptoms the claimant described specific to TMJ and myofascial headaches should have improved in three months sufficiently to allow the claimant to return to work.

102. Dr. Klein was deposed on September 9, 2008.  He testified the fact the claimant’s temporomandibular MRI was negative did not rule out TMJ, it only means the meniscus was normal, and TMJ symptoms may be present without internal derangement of the joint, although more severe injury is implied where there is internal derangement.  He also testified there may be swelling in the joint itself that is not visualized on the MRI.  Dr. Klein testified the claimant’s major TMJ problem was more a myofascial, muscle and severe muscle pain and tenderness, probably stretching of the jaw joint capsule and some of the ligaments.  He testified the claimant’s TMJ was in the middle range of severity.  He testified he had reviewed the physical therapy reports of June 2008, and opined the myofascial trigger point releases were standard maneuvers that he had seen on the physical therapy reports on his own patients, and also that he usually left the choice of the appropriate physical therapy to the physical therapists.  Dr. Klein testified he would have expected the claimant to be able to return to work after receiving the treatment he had recommended, from the perspective of his TMJ symptoms.  He testified it was difficult to determine whether the claimant would have a PPI from the TMJ, as although most people gradually get better over a period of time after the initial healing period of several weeks or several months, the key is to try to avoid reinjury, which can occur with a really wide yawn or biting into a triple decker sandwich.  He testified TMJ usually resolves without a PPI, he also testified some people will do a lot of grinding or clenching of their teeth.  In addition, he testified most people with TMJ do not have the disorder on the basis of a direct traumatic blow to the jaw, as is the case with the claimant.

103. Dr. Klein testified based on his 2006 examination of the claimant and his review of the medical records that existed up to that point, he would have expected the claimant’s TMJ problems to have resolved by now.  He testified there are some people who develop a chronic low-grade problem with TMJ.

104. Concerning the treatment the claimant received for his TMJ, Dr. Klein testified if the physician managing the TMJ problem and the physical therapist felt the claimant was making progress from the physical therapy treatment, and there was objective evidence of the progress, he would continue the treatment.  Dr. Klein defined a trigger point as an area of the soft issue or the musculature that is exquisitely sensitive to pressure so that light palpation to the area can produce exquisite pain for the patient and muscle spasm in the local area as well as the immediate surrounding area.  Dr. Klein testified trigger points are to a certain degree subjective, and difficult to quantify.  He testified muscle spasm will usually cause limitation in the motion of the joint, and an examiner may be able to feel tightness or knotting of the muscle.  He testified if there were no trigger points or muscle spasms in the claimant’s jaw or neck muscles before the work injury, but there were such trigger points and spasms after the injury, he would think they are related to the work injury.

105. Dr. Klein testified tinnitus can be caused by a jaw injury.  He further testified his opinion the claimant’s tinnitus was not related to the work injury was based on the fact he had bilateral tinnitus.  Dr. Klein testified typically there is a unilateral injury, the tinnitus will be in that ear only.  He testified although a blow to the jaw could cause bilateral tinnitus, he still believed the tinnitus is related to the bilateral hearing loss, not the work injury.

106.  Dr. Zech maintained when he first evaluated the claimant in October 2005, he indicated there might be some TMJ issues, but the December 1, 2005 temporomandibular joint MRI, was normal.  Therefore, he ruled out TMJ disease.  Dr. Zech opined there was a change in the claimant’s diagnoses as compared with the original, October 2005 EME report, in that now there appeared to be a myofascial component as identified by Dr. Klein, but he had trouble attributing it to the work injury based on time.  Dr. Zech indicated in 2007 he did not find any signs of consistent muscle restriction in the claimant in regard to his jaw function, but he did believe there might be some component of trigeminal neuralgia causing pain in teeth #2 and #3.  Dr. Zech opined no further treatment was indicated from the TMJ standpoint.

107. On July 7, 2008, at the board’s request, the SIME of the claimant by board certified psychiatrist Ronald Early, Ph.D., M.D., took place.  Dr. Early reviewed the medical record, interviewed the claimant, and conducted diagnostic testing.
  Dr. Early diagnosed the claimant with a pain disorder, associated with psychological factors and general medical condition, a conversion disorder (provisional diagnosis), depressive disorder, anxiety disorder, and cognitive disorder (provisional diagnosis).
  Dr. Early opined as follows:  1) the work injury was a substantial factor in causing the claimant’s pain disorder, 2) the claimant’s depressive order was aggravated as a result of the work injury; and 3) a cognitive disorder, if present, would also be related to the injury.
  He further opined there were some findings suggestive of an hysterical conversion disorder, which, if present, would be related to the work injury.
  

108. Dr. Early recommended the claimant receive psychiatric treatment consisting of weekly therapy for a year or longer.
  He opined the psychiatrist should not limit his treatment to depression and anxiety, but should also be actively involved in addressing the pain condition in therapy and in coordination with other physicians.
  Dr. Early indicated the claimant had been through many examinations and evaluations, but there was minimal contribution to treatment as a result of those evaluations.
  In addition, Dr. Early opined the array of diagnostic considerations resulting from the many evaluations contributed to the claimant’s distress, while at the same time not providing much benefit in regard to treatment or claim resolution.
  Dr. Early opined the failure to have a psychiatric intervention has resulted in further complication of the claim, and should have been initiated much sooner.  He further opined the claimant was not medically stable, nor was it possible for him to determine specifically when medical stability would be reached.  However, Dr. Early opined the claimant would require psychiatric treatment for one year before medical stability might be reached, although he might require medications thereafter.  He recommended a review of the overall status six months after psychiatric treatment began.

109. Dr. Early opined the claimant is not capable of returning to work in any capacity because of the combined medical and psychiatric diagnoses described in his report.

110. At his deposition on October 10, 2008, Dr. Early’s testimony was consistent with his July 7, 2008 SIME report.
  

111. Dr. Early wrote a response to Dr. Rappaport’s May 4, 2009 EME report (discussed below).
  Dr. Early noted the claimant’s physical symptoms which are not neurological or sensory have been interpreted differently by physicians depending on whether or not they believe the objective evidence is strong or persuasive, and their acceptance of the claimant’s report of symptoms.  Dr. Early explained he did not make a Conversion Disorder diagnosis as he concluded there was not sufficient evidence to exclude physical causes for sensory changes.  Therefore he used the term “provisional” pending further evaluation.  He also explained he did not make the diagnosis of “Adjustment Disorder” because the diagnoses of “Depressive Disorder, NOS” and “Anxiety Disorder, NOS” were more appropriate and fully addressed the symptoms and history.  Dr. Early did not agree with Dr. Rappaport’s diagnosis of “Undifferentiated Somatoform Disorder,” as he felt the other diagnoses were more appropriate.  Dr. Early noted even with their differences, he and Dr. Rappaport reached similar conclusions about the mood disorders, and their recommendations were similar.  Dr. Early opined the fundamental differences between his own and Dr. Rappaport’s conclusions were based on two issues.  The first issue was whether or not the continuing physical symptoms are causally related to or aggravated by the work injury.  The second issue was whether or not the mental health diagnoses of depression and anxiety were aggravated by the work injury.  Dr. Early noted malingering had been mentioned as a possibility, but not considered seriously.  Dr. Early opined there was no basis for concluding the claimant is malingering.

112. Dr. Early opined the work injury precipitated the re-emergence of significant depression and anxiety which were in remission prior to the accident.  His opinion was based on the description of the accident, the following onset of both physical and mental symptoms, and the persistence of those symptoms.  He noted prior to the 2005 work injury, with the exception of two emergency room visits n 2003 for diverticulitis, there is no indication of diagnoses or treatment for a mental health condition.  Dr. Early opined the major significant stress concurrent with the onset of the current and persistent mental health symptoms was the 2005 work injury.  He further indicated he had considered secondary gain factors and the claimant’s pre-morbid personality traits and history, and he did not find any of those considerations more likely to be the cause of the claimant’s current mental health symptoms than the 2005 work injury.  In addition, he opined regardless of the personality traits or pre-existing history, the claimant’s symptoms and conditions would not likely have occurred at the time they did if it had not been for the work injury, and even if the physical conditions were not fully supported by objective evidence, the symptoms emerged as a consequence of the work injury.

113. At hearing, Dr. Early’s testimony was consistent with his SIME reports and deposition.  He performed forensic evaluations in both California and Washington, performing primarily work for the defense in California.
  He testified he and Dr. Rappaport disagreed on the issue of the physical injuries, but many physicians found the claimant had physical injuries.  

114. Dr. Early is credible,
 based upon his expertise as a board certified psychiatrist, many years practice in that field, and his well-reasoned SIME report and testimony.

115. On May 4, 2009, at the employer’s request, board certified psychiatrist Dr. Rappaport performed an EME.
  He opined it was abundantly and overwhelmingly clear to him that psychological factors play a significant role in the claimant’s history, current complaints, and prognosis.  He further opined the claimant has a strong psychosomatic, or somatoform, tendency, so that psychological processes are manifested as somatic complaints for which there may be little or no organic basis.  Dr. Rappaport maintained the number, variety, severity, and chronicity of the claimant’s subjective complains cannot reasonably be attributed to any physical injuries that occurred in the May 24, 2005 work incident.  Dr. Rappaport diagnosed the claimant with:  1) Undifferentiated Somatoform Disorder, in which symptoms cannot be fully explained by a known general medical condition, or when there is a general medical condition, the physical complaints or impairment is in excess of expected from the history, physical examination, or laboratory findings; 2) Conversion Disorder; 3) Somatoform Pain Disorder, in which psychological factors are judged to have an important role in the onset, severity, exacerbation, or maintenance of the pain; 4) Adjustment Disorder with Mixed Anxiety and Depressed Mood; 5) Depressive Disorder and Anxiety Disorder, both Not Otherwise Specified; as well as 6) unspecified maladaptive personality traits, features or disorders.  Dr. Rappaport indicated the claimant’s psychological testing revealed his hypochondriacal and hysterical tendencies, and the Conversion V pattern that is associated with the manifestation of psychological issues as physical complaints.
  

116. Dr. Rappaport maintained the claimant’s complaints of cognitive dysfunction are not reasonably attributable to the work injury, which resulted in at most a mild concussive event from which he would have been expected to recover fully within days or weeks or a few months.
  He opined the factors that are affecting the claimant’s cognition include depression, pain, medications, especially narcotic analgesics, and sleep apnea.
  Dr. Rappaport further opined there were indications of symptom magnification, so malingering could not be ruled out.
  

117. Dr. Rappaport maintained since the claimant’s maladaptive personality traits and somatoform tendencies were present for years prior to the May 24, 2005 work injury, and the 1989 accident and subsequent clinical course had revealed a similar pattern to the current one.
  Therefore, Dr. Rappaport opined the May 24, 2005 work injury was the next and latest event in the claimant’s life that provided an opportunity for him to manifest his somatoform tendencies and allege occupational and functional disability.  He maintained the involvement in the pending litigation continued the claimant’s emotional distress and also served as a vehicle for attributing the cause of his problems to factors outside himself, undermining his quest for true remedies.

118. Concerning future treatment, Dr. Rappaport opined the claimant should be weaned from narcotic medication under medical supervision and be evaluated and treated by a board certified psychiatrist with expertise in treatment of co-morbid pain and depression.
  He recommended a therapeutic regimen of one of the Serotonin Norepinephrine Reuptake Inhibitor medications useful in co-morbid depression and pain.  He also recommended treatment in a multi-disciplinary chronic pain management program.  Dr.  Rappaport opined the claimant should gradually resume activities of daily living and gainful employment.  He maintained all the above therapeutic recommendations were to address the current manifestation of the claimant’s chronic preexisting problems, and they were not medically necessary as a result of the May 24, 2005 work injury.

119. Dr. Rappaport’s testimony on June 18, 2009, was consistent with his May 4, 2009 EME report.
  Dr. Rappaport testified he had been practicing psychiatry since 1974, and his practice was approximately 45% as a consultative-liason, treating the psychiatric component of illness in medical patients referred by physicians.  He testified 45% of his practice was in forensic psychiatry for both plaintiffs and defendants, in civil cases only.  Dr. Rappaport testified the claimant’s response to the work injury was to withdraw from life, and it was this choice, not the work injury itself, that led to his withdrawal.  Dr. Rappaport testified the May 24, 2005 work injury is another event, sixteen years after the 1989 incident, around which the claimant has organized a multi-year history of pain complaints, cognitive dysfunction, and physical, occupational and social dysfunction, all of which multiple examiners have found without anatomical basis and inconsistent with the work injury.  He testified the fact the claimant was having symptoms now, whereas he did not have them before the work injury does not mean there is a causal relationship.  He also testified there is a long term tendency of those with somatoform disorders to organize their lives around a certain event.  Dr. Rappaport testified the claimant had done this in 1989, and now again had a four year history of organizing his life around his work injury.  Dr. Rappaport testified he was aware the claimant was injured in accidents in 1992, 1993, 1997, and 1999, after which he returned to work within at most a few months.  Dr. Rappaport opined the difference between those prior injuries and the May 24, 2005 work injury is simply that the claimant returned to work after the previous injuries.  He testified it was not uncommon in people with a somatoform disorder to organize around a minor event, in the claimant’s age group, perhaps because they have been working hard and are tired.
  

120. The claimant’s attorney filed his Affidavit of Attorney Fees and Costs on June 12, 2009, itemizing the fees and costs for the period from February 28, 2006 through June 9, 2009.  Total attorney hours for this period were 182.10 hours at $300.00 per hour and 54.50 hours at $340.00 per hour, for a grand total of $73,160.00.  Paralegal hours were 12.87 hours at $100.00 per hour, and 24.09 hours at $115.00 per hour, totaling $4,057.35 in paralegal costs.  Costs for depositions, travel expenses, fees for expert witnesses, and long distance telephone, messenger, postage and copying totaled $19,503.63.  The grand total of fees and costs for the period from June 12, 2009 through June 9, 2009, were $92,663.63.

121. The claimant’s attorney also submitted a Supplemental Affidavit of Attorney Fees and Costs itemizing the fees and costs from June 12, 2009 through July 1, 2009.  Total attorney hours for this period were 42.2 at $340.00 per hour, totaling $14,348.00.  Total paralegal costs were $690 for six hours at $115.00 per hour.  Other costs were $2,350.00 for expert witnesses, and $75.00 for photocopying.  Thus the total fees and costs from June 12, 2009 through July 1, 2009, were $17,463.00.  

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.010.  Coverage.  

Compensation is payable under this chapter in respect of disability or death of an employee.

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board's “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”
  “An employee's preexisting condition will not” relieve an employer from liability in a proper case.
  A finding disability would not have occurred “but for” employment may be supported not only by a doctor’s testimony, but inferentially from the fact that an injured worker had been able to continue working despite pain prior to the subject employment but required surgery after that employment.  A finding reasonable persons would find employment was a cause of the employee’s disability and impose liability is, “as are all subjective determinations, the most difficult to support.”  However, there is also no reason to suppose Board members who so find are either irrational or arbitrary.  That “some reasonable persons may disagree with a subjective conclusion does not necessarily make that conclusion unreasonable.”

“Thus, for an employee to establish an aggravation claim under workers' compensation law, the employment need only have been ‘a substantial factor in bringing about the disability.’  Hester
 suggests that when a job worsens an employee’s symptoms such that she can no longer perform her job functions, that constitutes an ‘aggravation’ -- even when the job does not actually worsen the underlying condition.”

AS 23.40.041.  Rehabilitation of injured workers.  
(a) The board shall select and employ a reemployment benefits administrator. . . 

. . .

(c)  If an employee suffers a compensable injury that may permanently preclude an employee’s return to the employee’s occupation at the time of injury, the employee or employer may request an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits. . . .  The administrator shall, on a rotating basis, select a rehabilitation specialist  . . . to perform the eligibility evaluation.
The legislature delegated to the reemployment benefits administrator (RBA) the authority to decide in the first instance various issues related to reemployment preparation benefits.

AS 23.30.095 provided, in part, at the time of the employee’s injury:

(a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years form and after the date of injury to the employee.  However, if the condition requiring treatment, apparatus or medicine is a latent one, the two-year period runs from the time the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee’s disability and its relationship to the employment and after disablement.  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require….

. . . .

(l) An employer shall pay an employee’s bills for medical treatment under this chapter, excluding prescription charges or transportation for medical treatment, within 30 days after the date that the employer receives the health care provider’s bill or a completed report, whichever is later.

(m) . . . Unless the employer controverts a charge, an employer shall reimburse any transportation expenses for medical treatment under this chapter within 30 days after the employer received the health care provider's completed report and an itemization of the dates, destination, and transportation expenses for each date of travel for medical treatment. If the employer does not plan to make or does not make payment or reimbursement in full as required by this subsection, the employer shall notify in writing the employee and the employee's health care provider that payment will not be timely made and the reasons for the nonpayment. The notification must be provided on or before the date that payment is due under this subsection or (l ) of this section.

8 AAC 45.082(d) provides in pertinent part:

Unless the employer disputes the prescription charges or transportation expenses, an employer shall reimburse an employee's prescription charges or transportation expenses for medical treatment within 30 days after the employer receives … an itemization of the dates of travel and transportation expenses for each date of travel.”

Wilson v. Erickson, 477 P.2d 1988 (Alaska 1970) (A preexisting disease or infirmity does not disqualify a claim under the work-connection requirement if the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the disease or infirmity to produce the death or disability from which compensation is sought.)

Beauchamp v. Employers Liab. Assurance Corp., 477 P.2d 993 (Alaska 1970) (A claimant is entitled to compensation if any of the incidents of his employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with his disease or infirmity to produce disability.)

Burgess Constr. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312 (Alaska 1981) (The question of whether employment aggravated or accelerated a preexisting disease or injury is one of fact to be determined by the board.)

Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528 (Alaska 1987) (To prove an aggravation or exacerbation of a preexisting condition, the claimant need only prove that “but for” the subsequent trauma the claimant would not have suffered disability at this time, or in this way, or to this degree.  In other words, to satisfy the “but for” test, the claimant need only prove, as indicated above, that the aggravation, acceleration or combination was a substantial factor in the resulting disability.)
Medical benefits including continuing care are covered by the AS 23.30.120(a) presumption of compensability.
  Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under subsection 95(a).
  In complex medical cases, medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link between the work injury and the ongoing disabilities.
  “Moreover, we believe that an injured worker who has been receiving medical treatment should have the right to a prospective determination of compensability.
  Injured workers must weigh many variables before deciding whether to pursue a certain course of medical treatment or related procedures.  A salient factor in many cases will be whether the indicated treatment is compensable under AWCA.”
  A worker who has been receiving treatment for an injury which he claims occurred in the course of employment, is entitled to a hearing and “prospective determination on whether his or her injury is compensable.”
 
Under the Act, an employer shall furnish an employee injured at work any medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or process of recovery requires” within the first two years of the injury.  The medical treatment must be “reasonable and necessitated” by the work-related injury.  Thus, when the Board reviews an injured employee's claim for medical treatment made within two years of an injury that is indisputably work-related, “its review is limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary.”
  When the Board reviews a claim for continued treatment beyond two years from the date of injury, it has the discretion to authorize indicated medical treatment as the process of recovery may require.
  The Board, based on this discretion, is not limited to reviewing the reasonableness and necessity of a particular treatment requested, but has some latitude to choose among reasonable alternatives.
  A claim for medical treatment is to be reviewed according to the date the treatment was sought and the claim was filed with the Board.

AS 23.30.120.  Presumptions.  

(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

“The text of AS 23.30.120(a) (1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.”
  Therefore, an injured worker is afforded a presumption all the benefits he seeks are compensable (id.).  An employee is entitled to the presumption of compensability as to each evidentiary question.
  The presumption applies to claims for medical benefits as these come within the meaning of “compensation” in the Act.
  “The presumption of compensability in AS 23.30.120(a) applies when an employer controverts continuing entitlement to temporary benefits.  To overcome this presumption, the employer must introduce ‘substantial evidence’ to the contrary.”

“Under Alaska law, a disability arising after a non-work-related injury is still compensable if an earlier work-related injury substantially contributed to the employee's disability.
  Thus the fact an employee has suffered a non-work-related injury does not, standing alone, rebut the presumption of compensability.

The presumption’s application involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the disability or need for medical care and his employment.  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce “some,” “minimal” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between the disability and employment
  or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.
  The witnesses’ credibility is of no concern in this first step.

 Once the preliminary link is established, the employer has the burden to overcome the raised presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence the injury is not work related.
  There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: 

(1) Produce substantial evidence providing an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or 

(2)  Directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the employment was a factor in the disability.
  

“Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  “It has always been possible to rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.”
  If medical experts rule out work-related causes for the injury, then an alternative explanation is not required.
  The employer’s evidence is viewed in isolation, without regard to any evidence presented by the employee.
  Therefore, credibility questions and the weight to give the employer’s evidence is deferred until after it is decided if the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption the employee’s injury entitles him to compensation benefits.

If the employer produces substantial evidence the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.
  Consistent with AS 23.30.120(a) and cases construing its language, an injured employee may raise the presumption a claim for continuing treatment or care comes within the provisions of AS 23.30.095(a), and in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary this presumption will satisfy the employee’s burden of proof as to whether continued treatment or care is medically indicated.
  

Board decisions must be supported by “substantial evidence,” i.e., “such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.”
  The same standard is used in determining whether an employer has rebutted the §120 presumption.
  Where a physician had no opportunity to examine an employee “in any depth,” and where his conclusions were contrary to those of numerous treating physicians, his “knowledge of the case is so slight” as to make his report “worthless” and a “reasonable mind would not accept” his conclusions.  The judiciary may not reweigh evidence before the board.
  But it also will not abdicate its reviewing function and affirm a Board decision that has only “extremely slight” supporting evidence.
  In Black v. Universal Services,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held a “clear and unambiguous” EME report would overcome the §120 presumption, but if it disagrees with opinions of numerous treating physicians a reasonable mind would not accept its conclusions and it would not form a substantial basis to ultimately deny a claim.
  The Court has limited Black’s holding by refusing to reverse a decision “where the reviewing physician’s statement did not stand alone and was consistent with other evidence presented.”

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  

The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

AS 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board.  

(a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . . 

AS 23.30.145.  Attorney fees.  

(a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . . 


(b) If an employer . . . otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including reasonable attorney fees.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Subsection 145(a) authorizes attorney’s fees as a percentage of the amount of benefits awarded to an employee when an employer controverts a claim.  An award under §145(a) may include continuing fees on future benefits.  By contrast, §145(b) requires an employer to pay reasonable attorney’s fees when the employer delays or “otherwise resists” payment of compensation and the employee’s attorney successfully prosecutes his claim.
  Attorney’s fees in workers’ compensation cases should be fully compensatory and reasonable so injured workers have competent counsel available to them.
 

The employee is seeking actual attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b). The Alaska Supreme Court noted in Williams v. Abood
 as follows: 

We have held that awards of attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145 "should be fully compensatory and reasonable, in order that injured workers have competent counsel available to them."  However, this does not mean that an attorney representing an injured employee in front of the board automatically gets full, actual fees. We held in Bouse v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. that an employee is entitled to "full reasonable attorney's fees for services performed with respect to issues on which the worker prevails." (Footnote omitted) 

Further, the award of attorney fees and costs must reflect the contingent nature of workers’ compensation proceedings. 

As we have noted, the objective of awarding attorney's fees in compensation cases is to ensure that competent counsel are available to represent injured workers.
  This objective would not be furthered by a system in which claimants' counsel could receive nothing more than an hourly fee when they win while receiving nothing at all when they lose.
 

AS 23.30.155.  Payment of compensation.  

(a) Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer. . . . .

. . .

At the time of the employee’s injury, AS 23.30.095 provided, in part:

(l) An employer shall pay an employee’s bills for medical treatment under this chapter, excluding prescription charges or transportation for medical treatment, within 30 days after the date that the employer receives the health care provider’s bill or a completed report, whichever is later.

(m) . . . Unless the employer controverts a charge, an employer shall reimburse any transportation expenses for medical treatment under this chapter within 30 days after the employer received the health care provider's completed report and an itemization of the dates, destination, and transportation expenses for each date of travel for medical treatment. If the employer does not plan to make or does not make payment or reimbursement in full as required by this subsection, the employer shall notify in writing the employee and the employee's health care provider that payment will not be timely made and the reasons for the nonpayment. The notification must be provided on or before the date that payment is due under this subsection or (l ) of this section.

AS 23.30.155(p) provides, in part:

An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

8 AAC 45.082(d) provides:

Medical bills for an employee's treatment are due and payable within 30 days after the date the employer received the medical provider's bill and a completed report on form 07-6102. Unless the employer controverts the prescription charges or transportation expenses, an employer shall reimburse an employee's prescription charges or transportation expenses for medical treatment within 30 days after the employer received the medical provider's completed report on form 07-6102 and an itemization of the prescription numbers or an itemization of the dates of travel, destination, and transportation expenses for each date of travel. If the employer controverts 

(1) a medical bill or if the medical bill is not paid in full as billed, the employer shall notify the employee and medical provider in writing the reasons for not paying all or a part of the bill or the reason for delay in payment within 30 days after receipt of the bill and completed report on form 07-6102; 

(2) a prescription or transportation expense reimbursement request in full, the employer shall notify the employee in writing the reason for not paying all or a part of the request or the reason for delay within the time allowed in this section in which to make payment; if the employer makes a partial payment, the employer shall also itemize in writing the prescription or transportation expense requests not paid. 

8 AAC 45.142 provides, in part:

(b) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.


(c) The employer shall pay interest. . . .
(3)  on late-paid medical benefits to

(A)  The employee … if the employee has paid the provider … or

(B)  To the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.

An EME’s medical opinion that expressly stated an employee did not need certain medications, would suffice to allow an employer to prevail at a hearing “if the opinion remained uncontradicted.” In such cases an EME’s opinion is sufficient reason under Harp, for a “good-faith controversion.”

AS 23.30.185.  Compensation for temporary total disability.  

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.  

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act (Act) defines "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."
  The Act provides for benefits at 80% of the employee's spendable weekly wage while the disability is "total in character but temporary in quality,"
 and states that TTD may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.
  

The Alaska courts long ago defined TTD for its application in our cases.  In Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Alaska Industrial Board,(Phillips Petroleum)
 the Alaska territorial court defined TTD as "the healing period or the time during which the workman is wholly disabled and unable by reason of his injury to work."  The court explained:

A claimant is entitled to compensation for temporary total disability during the period of convalescence and during which time the claimant is unable to work, and the employer remains liable for total compensation until such time as the claimant is restored to the condition so far as his injury will permit.  The test is whether the claimant remains incapacitated to do work by reason of his injury, regardless of whether the injury at some time can be diagnosed as a permanent partial disability.

In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

As noted above, the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.
  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the disability and employment.
 

AS 23.30.220. Determination of spendable weekly wage.

(a) Computation of compensation under this chapter shall be on the basis of an employee's spendable weekly wage at the time of injury. An employee's spendable weekly wage is the employee's gross weekly earnings minus payroll tax deductions. An employee's gross weekly earnings shall be calculated as follows:
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(1) if at the time of injury the employee's earnings are calculated by the week, the weekly amount is the employee's gross weekly earnings;
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(2) if at the time of injury the employee's earnings are calculated by the month, the employee's gross weekly earnings are the monthly earnings multiplied by 12 and divided by 52;
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(3) if at the time of injury the employee's earnings are calculated by the year, the employee's gross weekly earnings are the yearly earnings divided by 52;
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(4) if at the time of injury 

(A) the employee's earnings are calculated by the day, by the hour, or by the output of the employee, then the employee's gross weekly earnings are the employee’s earnings most favorable to the employee computed by dividing by 13 the employee’s earnings, including overtime or premium pay, earned during any period of 13 consecutive calendar weeks within the 52 weeks immediately preceding the injury; [image: image6.png]



(B) employee has been employed for less than 13 calendar weeks immediately preceding the injury then, notwithstanding (1) - (3) of this subsection and (A) of this paragraph, the employee’s gross weekly earnings are computed by determining the amount that the employee would have earned, including overtime or premium pay, had the employee been employed by the employer for 13 calendar weeks immediately preceding the injury and dividing this sum by 13;

. . .

(6) if at the time of injury the employment is exclusively seasonal or temporary, then notwithstanding (1) – (5) of this subsection, the gross weekly earnings are 1/50 of the total wages that the employee has earned from all occupations during the 12 calendar months immediately preceding the injury. earnings are calculated by the week under (1) of this subsection or by the month under (2) of this subsection and the employment is exclusively seasonal or temporary, then the gross weekly earnings are 1/50 of the total wages that the employee has earned from all occupations during the 12 calendar months immediately preceding the injury;

. . .

(10) if an employee is entitled to compensation under AS 23.30.180 and the board determines that calculation of the employee's gross weekly earnings under (1) - (7) of this subsection does not fairly reflect the employee's earnings during the period of disability, the board shall determine gross weekly earnings by considering the nature of the employee's work, work history, and resulting disability, but compensation calculated under this paragraph may not exceed the employee's gross weekly earnings at the time of injury.

 (b) The commissioner shall annually prepare formulas that shall be used to calculate an employee's spendable weekly wage on the basis of gross weekly earnings, number of dependents, marital status, and payroll tax deductions.

 (c) In this section,
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(1) "seasonal work" means employment that is not intended to continue through an entire calendar year, but recurs on an annual basis;
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(2) "temporary work" means employment that is not permanent, ends upon completion of the task, job, or contract, and ends within six months from the date of injury.

Deuser v. State, 697 P.2d 647 (Alaska 1985).  The Alaska Supreme Court held the objective in computing a claimant’s compensation rate is to formulate a fair approximation of the claimant’s probable future earning capacity during the period of disability.

Dougan v. Aurora Electric, Inc., 50 P.3d 789 (Alaska 2002) (holding that the Gilmore “accurate predictor” test is no longer necessary when the initial determination of compensation is based on the amended version of AS 23.30.220).

Justice v. RMH Aero Logging, Inc., 42 P.3d 549 (Alaska 2002).  The Alaska Supreme Court stated that where past wage levels are an accurate predictor of losses due to the injury, then the statutory formula must be used to calculate the compensation rate.  A decision to depart from the statutory schedule must be supported by substantial evidence that past wage levels will lead to an irrational workers’ compensation award.

Flowline v. Brennan, 129 P.3d 881, 882 (Alaska 2006).  The Alaska Supreme Court upheld the Board’s decision finding that the claimant in that case was not an “exclusively temporary employee” for the purposes of AS 23.30.220(6), and was supported by substantial evidence, which included the number of hours the employee worked, his continuing relationship with the union, and his work history with the employer.
  The Court explained the category “exclusively temporary” workers was intended to apply to those persons who take on the occasional job but who otherwise do not participate significantly in the workforce.

Little v. Alaska Cutting, AWCB Decision No. 03-0075 (April 3, 2003).  The Board found that the job of timber cutter in Alaska was seasonal employment, and where a timber cutter was unemployed during the winter months, he should be classified as a seasonal, temporary worker.

AS 23.30.395.  definitions.  In this chapter

. . .

(21) ‘medical stability’ means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted clear and convincing evidence;

Thoeni v. Consumer Electronic Services, 151 P.3d 1249, 1256 (Alaska 2007) (The Court may reverse “a finding of medical stability where a prediction of medical stability turned out to be incorrect.”
  Predictions which proved to be incorrect “were not substantial evidence upon which the board could reasonably conclude” medical stability had been achieved.
 

ANALYSIS

I. COMPENSATION RATE ADJUSTMENT

Is the claimant an hourly worker or an exclusively seasonal or temporary worker?
Whether the claimant is entitled to a compensation rate adjustment depends on whether at the time of injury he was an hourly worker or an exclusively seasonal or temporary worker.  The Alaska Supreme Court has held the primary purpose of AS 23.30.220 is to “fix a fair approximation of an employee’s probable future earning capacity during a period of temporary partial or temporary total disability.”
  In addition, the Alaska Supreme court pointed out in Flowline v. Brennan (Flowline),
 that a fair approximation of a claimant’s future earning capacity lost due to the injury is the essential component of the fundamental compromise underlying the Workers’ Compensation Act – the employees’ sacrifice of common law claims against the employer in return for adequate compensation absent the delay and expense accompanying civil litigation,
 and this compromise, and the fairness requirements it engenders, are the context within which the Act must be interpreted.

This is a factual question to which the § 120 presumption applies.  The claimant has raised the presumption he is not a seasonal employee and thus entitled to an adjustment based on his testimony and that of his co-worker, Mr. Waxler, that the claimant was in good standing with his union and thus eligible for dispatch to union jobs during any layoff from his job with the employer.  At the second stage of the presumption analysis, the employer has rebutted the presumption through the testimony of Mr. Hammer, who stated employment with the employer was seasonal, usually ten months per year.  Since the employer has produced substantial evidence the claimant’s work at the time of injury was seasonal, the presumption drops out, and the claimant must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  The claimant bears the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence and must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.
At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the claimant has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that he is not an exclusively seasonal worker.  Based on the claimant’s and Mr. Waxler’s testimony, the claimant is a member in good standing of the Teamster’s Union and eligible for dispatch during any period he is not working for the employer.  Also based on the claimant’s and Mr. Waxler’s testimony, the claimant was hired for a full time, three year term of employment with the employer.  Even though the testimony of Mr. Hammer and Mr. Waxler shows they considered the work for the employer seasonal, as noted by the Alaska Supreme Court decision in Flowline, where an employee is a member of a union that dispatches its members the year around, the employee may in actuality be a full time, year round worker, not a seasonal worker.  In the instant case the claimant was not dispatched through the union to his work with the employer, whereas the employee in Flowline was dispatched through the union to his job at the time of injury.  This is not a critical distinction.  The importance of union status is the same whether dispatched through the union at the time of injury or not, as the importance of union status is based on the availability of year round employment as a predictor of future earning capacity.  This point is illustrated by the Board’s decision in Little, where the employee was determined to be an exclusively seasonal worker.  The employee in Little was also employed in the timber industry, but was unemployed and drew unemployment during those times when he was not working in the timber industry.  Also, the employee in Little was not a union member, eligible to be dispatched to jobs through a union.

Based on the record, the claimant was dispatched through the teamsters continuously, throughout all seasons, from the year 2000.  Therefore, based on the claimant’s history of dispatch for work through the union, his status as a union member in good standing, his eligibility for dispatch through the union during any layoffs from the employer, and the Alaska Supreme Court’s decision in Flowline, the claimant is an hourly employee, not an exclusively seasonal worker.

Based on the above analysis, the claimant is an hourly employee entitled to have his compensation rate determined according to AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(A) or (B).  Because he was employed in the 13 weeks immediately prior to his injury, he is entitled to have his compensation rate determined pursuant to AS 2330.220(a)(4)(A), which states the employee’s gross weekly earnings are the employee’s earnings most favorable to the employee computed by dividing by 13 the employee’s earnings, including overtime or premium pay, earned during any period of 13 consecutive calendar weeks with the 52 weeks preceding the injury.  Based on the record, the claimant’s earnings for the thirteen weeks prior to the injury are the most favorable to him, and were as follows:

Scarcella Brothers:

3/5/05

$1,052.32

3/12/05

$1,187.58

3/19/05

$  504.72

3/26/05

0

4/2/05

0

Wasser and Winter:

4/14/05

$1,230.50

4/21/05

$1,900.00

4/28/05

$2,042.50

5/5/05

$2,270.50

5/12/06

$2,470.00

5/19/05

$1,871.50

5/26/05

$1,871.50

6/2/05

$1,672.00

Based on the above, the claimant’s total earnings for the 13 weeks prior to the work injury were $17,973.12, which when divided by 13 weeks yields $1,382.54, a gross weekly wage of $829.00, reduced by a cost of living adjustment of .968, yielding $803.30 per week.  In addition, because applying AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(A) incorporates the claimant’s earnings from both his teamster union job and his job with employer, this formula is the best predictor of the claimant’s probable future earning capacity during the period of temporary disability, as his probable future earnings would have included his job with the employer as well as jobs to which he was dispatched from the Teamsters Union during any periods of layoff from his job with the employer.  In summary, the claimant is entitled to have his compensation rate adjusted according to AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(A). 

II. MEDICAL BENEFITS AND TRANSPORTATION COSTS

The claimant has several diagnoses, addressed individually below.  Whether or not the work injury is a substantial factor causing the disability and need for medical treatment for each diagnosis is primarily a factual issue to which the § .120 presumption applies.

A. Dental Injuries

Is the work injury a substantial factor in causing the claimant’s ongoing dental symptoms?

Based on the review of the record, the claimant had injuries to his teeth, which the employer accepted and paid.  Therefore, the employer has not disputed the claimant suffered injury to some of his teeth as a result of the work injury.  However, the claimant continues to complain of the sensitivity of his upper right teeth, especially teeth #2 and #3.  The question is whether the claimant is entitled to ongoing medical treatment for his symptoms.  This is a medically complex case, requiring expert medical opinion concerning causation.  In satisfying the first step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, the claimant has raised the presumption the work injury caused damage to his teeth based on his own testimony and the reports and opinions of his dentist, Dr. Rakow.  
In addressing the presumption analysis’ second step, and without regard to credibility, the employer has rebutted the presumption the work injury is a substantial factor in any further need for treatment of the dental injuries based on the opinion of Dr. Rohila, who opined the symptoms were the result of cracks in the teeth, and the cause of these cracks could not be determined, and Dr. Zech’s January 2007 EME report, in which he opined the pain in the claimant’s teeth was because of preexisting periodontal disease.  Since the employer produced substantial evidence the symptoms, any ongoing disability and any need for medical treatment are no longer work-related, the presumption drops out, and the claimant must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  The claimant bears the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence and must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.  

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the claimant proved his claim for continuing compensability by a preponderance of the evidence.  In his October 2007 EME report, Dr. Zech changed his opinion concerning the cause and work-relatedness of the teeth symptoms, and opined root canals or crowns on teeth #2 and #3 would reduce the pain if the pain was not the result of trigeminal neuralgia.  Greater weight is place upon Dr. Zech’s opinion than Dr. Rohila’s, as Dr. Rohila’s opinion concerning the origin of the cracks in the teeth was made without his being aware the claimant had suffered from bruxism since the work injury, and Dr. Rohila acknowledged bruxism can cause cracks.  In addition, less weight is given to Dr. Rohila’s opinion as he acknowledged the staining of the cracks in the teeth could have formed in the two plus years since the work injury.  Based upon Dr. Zech’s opinion, the claimant met his burden of proof and persuasion.  The work injury continues to be a substantial factor in causing the claimant’s ongoing symptoms of pain in teeth #2 and #3, and any disability and need for medical care.  Therefore, the claimant’s claim for continued benefits relating to teeth #2 and #3 is compensable.  Based upon Dr. Zech’s opinion the claimant’s pain in teeth #2 and #3 might improve with root canals or caps, the claimant’s dental injury is not medically stable as to teeth #2 and #3.

B. Temporomandibular Joint Disorder/Myofascial Pain Syndrome

Is the work injury a substantial factor in causing the claimant’s ongoing symptoms of TMJ and/or myofascial pain syndrome?

This is a medically complex issue requiring expert medical evidence concerning causation.  In satisfying the first step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, the claimant raised the presumption his TMJ and/or myofascial pain syndrome were caused by the work injury based on his own testimony concerning his jaw symptoms, and the opinions of Dr. Rakow, Dr. Klein, and Dr. van der Ven, all of whom opined the claimant had TMJ and/or myofascial pain syndrome caused by his work injury.  The employer accepted the claimant’s TMJ and myofascial pain syndrome injuries, and paid medical benefits for a period of time, but controverted those benefits on August 11, 2008, based on the opinion of EME physician Dr. Zech.  Concerning ongoing treatment for the claimant’s TMJ/myofascial pain syndrome, the claimant has raised the presumption he is entitled to ongoing treatment based on his testimony concerning ongoing jaw and facial pain.  In addition, the opinions of Drs. van der Ven and Klein, as well as OTR Connolly, indicate the claimant needs ongoing treatment for his TMJ/myofascial pain syndrome.  This evidence is sufficient to raise the §120 presumption and cause it to attach to the claimant’s claim for continuing compensability of his TMJ and/or myofascial pain syndrome.
In addressing the presumption analysis’ second step, and without regard to credibility, the employer has presented substantial evidence to rebut the presumption based on Dr. Zech’s opinions in his July 23, 2008 EME report which, if accepted would exclude work-related factors as a substantial factor in causing the ongoing disability.  Specifically, Dr. Zech maintained he had ruled out TMJ problems based on the normal December 1, 2005 temporomandibular MRI.  In addition, although he acknowledged there was a myofascial problem, he opined it was not related to the work injury due to the passage of time.  Since the employer produced substantial evidence the symptoms, any ongoing disability and any need for medical treatment are no longer work-related, the presumption drops out, and the claimant must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the claimant proved his claim for continuing compensability of the TMJ/myofascial pain syndrome symptoms, disability and need for medical treatment by a preponderance of the evidence.  Based on Dr. Klein’s opinions, the claimant’s negative December 1, 2005 temporomandibular joint MRI did not rule out TMJ, but only indicated the meniscus was normal.  Also based on Dr. Klein’s opinions, the claimant’s major TMJ problem is a myofascial problem, aggravated by persistent myofascial dysfunction, severe muscle pain and tenderness, and stretching of the jaw joint capsule and some of the ligaments.  Concerning past and future medical treatment, based on Dr. Klein’s opinions, the care the claimant has received from Dr. van der Ven and OTR Connolly has been reasonable and necessary, and should continue as long as they feel he is making progress and there is objective evidence of that progress.  The claimant has developed a chronic problem with TMJ, based on the medical records concerning the claimant’s persistent TMJ/myofascial pain syndrome, and Dr. Klein’s acknowledgment some people do develop this problem.

Reliance is also placed on the opinion of Dr. van der Ven, who diagnosed the claimant with left TMJ with chronic non-reducing disk placement and bilateral TMJ arthralgias, masticatory myalgia, chronic headaches, and cervicalgia, possible bruxism, reduced jaw opening and significant jaw muscle pain and joint tenderness.  Based on these diagnoses, Dr. van der Ven referred the claimant for further treatment with OTR Connolly, which was not completed, as the employer, relying on Dr. Zech’s July 23, 2008 EME report, controverted this treatment 

Greater weight is also given to the opinions of OTR Connolly, based on her expertise in therapy for myofascial pain syndrome and her knowledge of the claimant’s condition over time.  Based on OTR Connolly’s opinion, the claimant made progress with her therapy, as he had reduced muscle tension and spasm, but he would improve with continued therapy, particularly if his neck could be treated in addition to the jaw and face.  OTR Connolly also opined the claimant could make progress if his psychological issues of depression and anxiety were addressed.  She maintained the claimant was unable to work because of his pain.

However, less reliance is placed on the opinions of Dr. Zech, who based his opinion concerning the resolution of the claimant’s TMJ primarily on the negative December 1, 2005 temporomandibular joint MRI.  Dr. Zech acknowledged the claimant’s continued pain, and attributed it to myofascial problems, which he did not attribute to the work injury based on the passage of time.  However, Dr. Zech did not offer any alternative explanations for the claimant’s symptoms, nor did he address the fact the claimant had no prior injury or symptoms before the work injury which might account for his current symptoms and disability.  Since the claimant has complained almost continuously since the injury of jaw, neck, and facial pain, Dr. Zech’s explanation of the passage of time since the work injury being a reason these symptoms and disability are not related to the work injury is not consistent with the facts of the case.  Finally, Dr. Zech did not address the diagnoses made by Dr. Klein or Dr. van der Ven.

In summary, based upon the opinions of Dr. Klein, Dr. van der Ven, and OTR Connolly, the claimant has proved by a preponderance of the evidence the work injury is a substantial factor in his ongoing TMJ/myofascial pain syndrome, disability and need for medical treatment.  Based on Dr. van der Ven’s and OTR Connolly’s opinions the claimant’s TMJ/myofascial pain syndrome would improve with further treatment, this condition is not medically stable.  

C. Cervical Spine

Is the work injury a substantial factor causing the claimant’s cervical spine symptoms, disability and need for medical treatment?

This is a medically complex case, and expert medical opinion is required concerning causation.  In satisfying the first step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, the claimant has raised the presumption the work injury is a substantial factor in causing his cervical spine symptoms, disability and need for medical treatment through his own testimony concerning his neck pain immediately after the work injury and the medical reports of Dr. Schauer and Dr. Allen.  This evidence is sufficient to raise the §120 presumption and cause it to attach to the claimant’s claim for continuing compensability of his cervical spine symptoms and disability.  

In addressing the presumption analysis’ second step, and without regard to credibility, Dr. Brigham’s and Dr. LaMarche’s and Dr. Millican’s EME reports are substantial evidence to rebut the presumption and specifically provide alternate causes for the claimant’s ongoing cervical spine symptoms, and any disability or need for further medical treatment, which, if accepted would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability.  Specifically, these examiners opine the claimant suffered only a temporary exacerbation of the preexisting cervical spine degenerative disc disease, which resolved and was medically stable with no permanent impairment by October 25, 2005.  These examiners attribute any ongoing cervical spine symptoms, disability and need for medical treatment to the claimant’s preexisting cervical spine degenerative disc disease.  Since the employer produced substantial evidence the symptoms, any ongoing disability, and any need for medical treatment are no longer work-related, the presumption drops out, and the claimant must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the claimant proved his claim for the past and continuing compensability of his cervical spine symptoms, disability and need for medical treatment by a preponderance of the evidence.  Based on the claimant’s testimony, he experienced pain in his neck immediately after the work injury, and based on the medical records and the testimony of health care providers Dr. Schauer, Dr. Allen, PT Tanner, Dr. van der Ven, and OTR Connolly, SIME physicians Dr. Lipon, Dr. Klein and Dr. Early, and EME physicians Dr. Brigham, Dr. LaMarche, Dr. Zech, Dr. Millican, and Dr. Huang, he has complained of neck pain consistently ever since the work injury.  Although Drs. Brigham, LaMarche and Millican have opined the claimant suffered only a temporary exacerbation of his preexisting cervical spine degenerative disc disease, the weight of the evidence of the claimant’s consistent complaints of neck pain ever since the work injury, as well as the muscle tension and spasm and triggerpoints found by OTR Connolly, prove the aggravation of the claimant’s cervical spine disability has persisted and is not temporary.  Drs. Brigham, LaMarche and Millican, as well as SIME physician Dr. Lipon, based their opinions in part on the cervical spine MRI that demonstrated preexisting degenerative disc disease, and on the lack of objective findings on examination and imaging studies.  However, many health care providers, including Dr. Schauer, Dr. Allen, PT Tanner, and OTR Connolly, all found either muscle spasm or muscle hypertonicity, or both in the claimant’s neck.

Additionally, for an employee to establish an aggravation claim, the work injury need only be a substantial factor in bringing about the disability.  Even if a job does not actually worsen the underlying condition, but worsens the symptoms such that an employee can no longer perform the job functions, this constitutes an aggravation.
  Therefore, even if the claimant’s cervical spine MRI demonstrated cervical spine degenerative disc disease, his lack of symptoms prior to the injury, abrupt onset of symptoms at the time of injury, and the persistence of those symptoms after the injury, which contribute to the claimant’s disability, constitute an aggravation.
Based on the above analysis, the claimant met his burden of proof and persuasion.  His ongoing symptoms, and any disability and need for medical care for his cervical spine disability continue to arise out of and in the course of his employment, specifically his May 24, 2005 work-related injury with the employer.  Therefore, the claimant’s claim for continued benefits for his cervical spine disability is compensable.  In addition, based on OTR Connolly’s and Dr. Schauer’s opinions the claimant’s cervical spine symptoms would improve with additional therapy, the cervical spine disability is not medically stable.

D. Lower Back

Is the work injury a substantial factor in the claimant’s low back pain symptoms, disability and need for medical treatment?

At the first stage of the presumption analysis, and without considering credibility, the claimant has raised the presumption his low back pain was caused or aggravated by the work injury, based upon his testimony he experienced an increase in his low back pain after the work injury, and the opinions of Dr. Schauer and Dr. Allen that the work injury had aggravated the claimant’s low back pain.  This evidence is sufficient to raise the §120 presumption and cause it to attach to the claimant’s claim for continuing compensability of his low back symptoms.

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, without an assessment of credibility, the employer has rebutted the presumption of the compensability of the claimant’s low back pain based upon the EME reports of doctors Brigham and LaMarche, and also Dr. Lipon’s SIME report.  All three doctors opined the work injury was not a substantial factor in the claimant’s post injury low back pain, based primarily on the claimant’s delay in reporting low back pain to any of his health care providers.  The opinions of Drs. Brigham, LaMarche and Lipon provide an alternate cause for the claimant’s ongoing symptoms and any disability or need for further medical treatment, which, if accepted would exclude work-related factors as a substantial factor causing the disability.  Specifically, these doctors opined the delay in reporting the low back pain to his health care providers rules out the possibility this disability can be attributed to the work injury.  They opine his current low pain is caused by his pre-existing degenerative disc disease.  Since the employer has produced substantial evidence the symptoms, any ongoing disability and any need for medical treatment are not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the claimant must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the claimant has failed to meet his burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence the work injury is a substantial factor in causing or aggravating his low back disability and need for medical treatment.  Greater weight is placed on the opinions of Drs. Brigham, LaMarche and Lipon that the work injury was not a substantial factor in the claimant’s low back pain because the claimant did not complain of these symptoms until months after the work injury, opinions that were not altered when they understood the claimant first complained of low back pain in July 2005, approximately two months after the work injury.  Less weight is given Dr. Schauer’s opinions and Dr. Allen’s opinion, as they failed to adequately explain the delay in the onset of symptoms.  Based on experience, judgment, observations, and the unique facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above, the work injury is not a substantial factor in causing or aggravating the claimant’s low back symptoms, disability, or need for medical treatment.

E.  Carpal Tunnel Syndrome

Is the work injury a substantial factor causing the claimant’s CTS?

This is a medically complex issue, requiring expert medical opinion concerning causation.  The claimant raised the presumption his work injury caused his CTS through his complaints of the symptoms of CTS that began after his injury took place, as well as the medical reports of Dr. Kesting who found he did have a minimal bilateral CTS.  This evidence is sufficient to raise the §120 presumption and cause it to attach to the claimant’s claim for compensability of his CTS.

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, the employer rebutted the presumption through Dr. Millican’s EME reports and testimony, in which she opined although the claimant had CTS, it is not related to the work injury, as his wrists were not hurt.  Dr. Millican’s opinion is substantial evidence to rebut the presumption as it specifically rules out the work injury as a cause of the CTS.  Once the employer has rebutted the presumption, the presumption drops out, and the claimant is required to prove his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the claimant has failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence the work injury is a substantial factor causing his CTS.  Although Dr. Schauer noted she has had former patients whose neck injuries have caused CTS, she freely acknowledges this is a subject beyond her expertise.  Further, although Dr. Kesting suggested the claimant might have a cervical spine cord contusion with sensory dysesthesia, this suggestion does not constitute an opinion the CTS is caused by the work injury.  In summary, no doctor has opined the work injury is a substantial factor in causing the claimant’s CTS.  Therefore, the claimant has failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence the work injury is a substantial factor in causing his CTS.

F. Hearing Loss and Tinnitus
Is the work injury a substantial factor in causing the claimant’s hearing loss and tinnitus?

At the first stage of the presumption analysis, the claimant has raised the presumption his loss of hearing and tinnitus arose out of and in the course of his work with the employer, and that the work injury is a substantial factor in his hearing loss and tinnitus, and any resulting disability and need for medical treatment.  Based upon the claimant’s testimony, his tinnitus began immediately after the work injury, and the hearing difficulty also began after his work injury.  Also based upon the medical reports of audiologist Dr. Doucette, neurologist Dr. Grimm, and otolaryngologists Dr. Randolph and Dr. Rockwell, the work injury is a substantial factor in the claimant’s hearing loss and tinnitus.

In addressing the presumption analysis’ second step, and without regard to credibility, Dr. Klein’s SIME report is substantial evidence to rebut the presumption and specifically provides alternate causes for the claimant’s ongoing symptoms, and any disability or need for further medical treatment, which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability.  Specifically Dr. Klein’s reports and testimony point to industrial noise exposure as the cause of the hearing loss, and the hearing loss as the cause of the tinnitus.  Since the employer has rebutted the presumption, the claimant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence the work injury is a substantial factor in causing his hearing loss and tinnitus.  

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the claimant proved the compensability of his hearing loss and tinnitus by a preponderance of the evidence.  The claimant credibly testified, and the record reflects, he first experienced tinnitus immediately after the work injury, and first experienced the hearing loss after the work injury.  In addition, the preponderance of the medical evidence demonstrates the work injury is a substantial factor in causing the hearing loss and tinnitus.  The evidence, based on the credible medical reports and testimony of Dr. Doucette, who opined the claimant’s hearing loss was caused by the work injury, not caused by noise exposure, as it did not fit the typical pattern for noise-induced loss, provides proof the work injury is a substantial factor in the claimant’s hearing loss.  In addition, based upon Dr. Doucette’s testimony, the tinnitus was also caused by the work injury; as tinnitus is common with head injuries.  Providing further evidence are the opinions of Dr. Randolph, who agreed with Dr. Doucette that the hearing loss did not fit the noise-induced pattern and was caused by the work injury, as was the tinnitus.  EME physician Dr. Rockwell agreed with both Dr. Doucette and Dr. Randolph.  

Less weight in placed upon the testimony of Dr. Klein, who opined although the hearing loss did not fit the typical noise-induced pattern, he still thought it was caused by industrial noise exposure.  The doctor did not explain why the claimant’s hearing loss might not fit the typical pattern, yet still be caused by industrial noise exposure.  Less weight is also give to Dr. Klein’s opinion concerning the cause of the tinnitus, as his reason for eliminating the work injury as a cause was that the tinnitus was bilateral, whereas typically after an injury, tinnitus is unilateral.  Dr. Klein was unable to explain why, where a work injury is on the chin, it would not have a bilateral effect.  

Concerning the medical stability of the tinnitus, Dr. Randolph opined this condition would be medically stable 18 months after his July 20, 2005 evaluation, or in early 2007.  As to any disability associated with tinnitus, Dr. Doucette opined tinnitus can be disabling, especially because it interferes with sleep.  However, no doctor has opined the claimant’s hearing loss or tinnitus has prevented the claimant from working.  Dr. Randolph opined the PPI was 2% of the whole person for the tinnitus, but his rating was performed before medical stability.

In summary, based on the opinions of doctors Doucette, Randolph, and Rockwell, the work injury is a substantial factor in causing the claimant’s hearing loss and tinnitus, and the tinnitus was probably medically stable by February 2007.  Because neither the hearing loss nor tinnitus has prevented the claimant from working, he is not entitled to TTD for these conditions.  However, medical treatment for the hearing loss and tinnitus, if any, would be compensable.  

G. Balance Disorder
Is the work injury a substantial factor in causing the claimant’s balance disorder?

Whether or not the claimant has a balance disorder and if so, whether the work injury is a substantial factor in the cause of that disorder is a factual question to which the §.120 presumption applies.  At the first stage of the presumption analysis, without regard to credibility, the claimant has raised the presumption he has a balance disorder based upon his own testimony and the medical reports of Dr. Doucette and Dr. Grimm, both of whom opined the claimant has a vestibular disorder resulting in vision dependent balance, which was caused by the work injury.

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, without regard to credibility, the employer has provided substantial evidence to rebut the presumption based on the medical reports and testimony of Dr. Huang, who opined the claimant does not have a balance disorder.  Specifically, Dr. Huang testified the ECOG testing performed during her evaluation did not fully support a diagnosis of EDH, and the posturography testing did not support a balance disorder, the latter primarily because of poor effort on the claimant’s part during the test, leading to questions of secondary gain.  Since the employer produced substantial evidence the symptoms, any ongoing disability and any need for medical treatment are not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the claimant must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the claimant has proven his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Greater weight is given to the reports and testimony of Dr. Doucette and Dr. Grimm.  Based on Dr. Doucette’s testing and both Dr. Doucette’s and Dr. Grimm’s analyses, the ECOG testing and the posturography testing performed in both December 2007 and November 2008 showed the claimant has EDH, and vestibular dysfunction, causing a vision dependent balance disorder, and the EDH and vestibular dysfunction were caused by the work injury.  They evaluated the claimant in December 2007 and November 2008 with similar results.  Dr. Grimm testified posturography cannot be faked, as the response time is too rapid.  Greater weight is also placed on their opinions as they were able to effectively answer the questions concerning the diagnosis that Dr. Huang raised, as discussed below.  

Less weight is given to Dr. Huang’s opinions.  Although she testified she would nearly completely rule out the claimant does have EDH, she also acknowledged ECOG is better at ruling in disorders than ruling them out, especially in fluctuating disorders.  In addition, Dr. Huang’s own testing verified an elevated SP/AP ratio in the left ear, indicative of EDH.  Dr. Doucette testified EDH fluctuates, and a negative ECOG does not rule out the disorder.  While Dr. Huang testified it is unusual to develop EDH in both ears, she did not address the fact the claimant’s blow to the chin could have caused a bilateral injury.  Dr. Huang testified while the development of balance and disequilibrium problems over a year after the injury was not common, it is possible in delayed EDH.  While Dr. Huang in part based her opinion the claimant did not have a vestibular disorder on the fact it is unusual to have ongoing symptoms without nystagmus, she acknowledged if the disorder is compensated, there will not be nystagmus.  Dr. Doucette testified the claimant does not have nystagmus, as his vestibular disorder is compensated.  Dr. Huang testified her opinion the claimant exhibited signs of secondary gain was based on PT Grove’s findings, not her own.  Dr. Grimm testified the claimant had not shown anything but an honest effort on each occasion he evaluated him.  Dr. Doucette questioned PT Grove’s findings of secondary gain, specifically stating if the claimant was not giving his best effort, PT Grove should have considered the reasons, such as soreness from physical therapy, as had been the case on Dr. Doucette’s second testing.  Because of the uncertainties in Dr. Huang’s report and testimony, as well as Dr. Huang’s acknowledgments concerning ECOG testing in fluctuating disorders, development of delayed EDH, and lack of nystagmus if a disorder is compensated, less weight is given to her opinion the claimant does not have EDH and a balance disorder.

In summary, based on the opinions of Dr. Doucette and Dr. Grimm, the May 24, 2005 work injury is a substantial factor causing the claimant’s cochlear and vestibular disorders, EDH, and balance disorder.  Based on Dr. Doucette’s and Dr. Grimm’s recommendations the claimant undergo vestibular rehabilitation therapy for his balance disorder, this disability is not medically stable.

H. Brain Injury/Neurocognitive Deficit
Is the work injury a substantial factor in causing the claimant’s brain injury and resulting neurocognitive deficit?

This is a complex medical issue, requiring expert medical testimony concerning causation.  At the first stage of the presumption analysis, without regard to credibility, the claimant has raised the presumption he has a brain injury and neurocognitive deficit through the testimony of Dr. Perrillo, who opined the claimant’s brain has been injured and he suffers from a neurocognitive deficit, including lowered IQ, caused by the work injury.  Once the claimant has raised the presumption his claim is compensable, the employer must provide substantial evidence to rebut the presumption.

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, without assessing credibility, Dr. Muscatel’s and Dr. Goldmann’s reports and testimony are substantial evidence to rebut the presumption and specifically provide proof the claimant does not have the claimed disability or need for further medical treatment.  Specifically, Dr. Muscatel found although the claimant had a mild neurocognitive impairment, he did not have a brain injury that caused the impairment.  Dr. Goldmann agreed with Dr. Muscatel concerning the brain injury, and opined the claimant’s depression, pain problem, and sleep apnea could all be impacting the neuropsychological test scores.  Since the employer produced substantial evidence the claimant does not have the disability or need for medical treatment claimed, the presumption drops out, and the claimant must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the claimant has failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence he has suffered a brain injury or neurocognitive deficit as a result thereof.  Dr. Perrillo, Dr. Muscatel, and Dr. Goldmann are all credible,
 based upon their expertise in their specialties.  While Dr. Perrillo’s explanations of his testing of premorbid IQ and his conviction the abnormal results on portions of the neuropsychological testing are proof the claimant has an abnormal brain and suffers from a neurocognitive deficit are persuasive, the weight of the evidence, based on Dr. Muscatel’s and Dr. Goldmann’s opinions, demonstrates the claimant did not have an organic brain injury or neurocognitive dysfunction caused by a brain injury.  

As described above, Dr. Muscatel opined there was no evidence based on his evaluation and neuropsychological testing that the claimant had an organic brain injury causing cognitive dysfunction.  Dr. Goldmann agreed with Dr. Muscatel and opined the claimant did not suffer from neurocognitive impairment, as neuropsychological testing demonstrated the claimant’s scores were in the average range.  

While Dr. Perillo opined the claimant suffered a drop in his IQ resulting from the work injury, Dr. Goldmann explained the claimant’s low scores on the vocabulary and information subtests show his IQ did not drop after the work injury, as those scores do not drop even with a head injury, thus specifically disputing Dr. Perrillo’s contention the claimant’s IQ had dropped after the work injury.  Based upon Dr. Muscatel’s and Dr. Goldmann’s opinions, it is standard practice for neuropsychological testing to be performed by psychometrists rather than the neuropsychologists themselves.  No lesser weight is placed on the results of Dr. Muscatel’s testing or Dr. Muscatel’s and Dr. Goldmann’s opinions based on that testing because the actual testing was performed by a psychometrist.  In summary, the weight of the evidence, based on the opinions of Dr. Muscatel and Dr. Goldmann, shows the claimant does not have a brain injury and does not suffer from a neurocognitive dysfunction caused by a brain injury.  Based on the foregoing analysis, the claimant has failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he has a brain injury or any neurocognitive deficit as a result of a brain injury. 

I. Psychiatric Disorder
Is the work injury a substantial factor causing or aggravating the claimant’s psychiatric disabilities?

Whether the work injury is a substantial factor causing or aggravating the claimant’s psychiatric disorder or disorders is a complex medical issue requiring expert medical testimony.  At the first stage of the presumption analysis, without regard to credibility, the claimant raised the presumption he is suffering from a psychiatric disorder related to his work injury based on many of the medical reports in the record, in which many health care providers opined psychological factors were playing a role in his disability, and Dr. Early’s reports and testimony, in which he opined the claimant suffers from a pain disorder, associated with psychological factors and general medical condition, a conversion disorder (provisional diagnosis), depressive disorder, and anxiety disorder.

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, and without assessing credibility, the employer has provided substantial evidence through Dr. Rappaport’s May 4, 2009 EME report and hearing testimony to rebut the presumption and provide an alternative cause for the claimant’s ongoing symptoms and disability, and need for medical treatment, which, if accepted would exclude work-related factors as a substantial factor causing the disability.  Dr. Rappaport opined the claimant’s psychiatric diagnoses are attributable to the claimant’s maladaptive personality traits, psychosomatic or somatoform tendencies, all of which were present for years prior to the May 24, 2005 work injury.  He further opined the work injury did not aggravate the claimant’s underlying tendencies, rather the work injury provided an opportunity for the claimant to manifest these tendencies and allege occupational and functional disability.  Since the employer produced substantial evidence rebutting the presumption, the presumption drops out, and the claimant must prove all the elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the claimant proved his claim by a preponderance of the evidence, based upon the record, particularly the SIME report and the testimony of Dr. Early, as well as the claimant’s lay witnesses.  Dr. Early’s opinion the work injury was a substantial factor in causing the claimant’s pain disorder was based in part on the fact there were many physicians who opined the claimant had physical injuries, and the symptoms from those injuries persisted, a fact which is supported in the medical records.  Dr. Early’s opinion the claimant’s preexisting depression and anxiety, which had been in remission, were aggravated by the work injury and re-emerged, was based on the description of the accident, the following onset of symptoms, and the persistence of those symptoms.  In addition, Dr. Early based this opinion on the claimant’s ten-year history prior to the 2005 work injury in which there were no diagnoses or treatment for a mental health condition, with the exception of treatment for diverticulitis in 2003, when the claimant was advised to reduce the stress in his life.  As noted above, this opinion concerning the claimant’s mental health condition, as well as his physical condition before the work injury is supported by the testimony of lay witnesses Mr. Hammer, Mr. Waxler, and Mr. Keaton, Ms. Williams, and Mr. DeApril, who provide additional evidence of the claimant’s general well-being, happiness, and good health prior to the work injury..  Dr. Early maintained the claimant’s symptoms and conditions would not likely have occurred at the time they did if it had not been for the work injury.  

On the other hand, Dr. Rappaport found the claimant’s physical injuries were too minor to support a diagnosis of pain disorder associated with a general medical condition.  This finding was based upon his opinion the claimant’s subjective complaints were too numerous, various, severe and chronic to be attributed to the work injury, and he therefore diagnosed the claimant with undifferentiated somatoform disorder, and somatoform pain disorder.  

The crux of the difference between Dr. Early’s and Dr. Rappaport’s opinions concerning the claimant’s disability and need for medical treatment is whether the continuing physical symptoms are causally related to or aggravated by the work injury and whether or not the mental health diagnoses of chronic pain disorder, depression and anxiety were caused by or aggravated by the injury.  Based upon the medical records and expert and lay testimony, as well as experience, judgment, observations, the facts of this case, and the inferences drawn from all of the above, Dr. Early’s opinions are given greater weight than those of Dr. Rappaport.  Dr. Early considered all of the claimant’s circumstances, including the over ten year period of remission in his depression and anxiety, in arriving at his opinion the work injury is a substantial factor in aggravating the claimant’s depression and anxiety.  Dr. Early considered the findings of many of the claimant’s physicians that he had physical injuries, and the persistence of those symptoms, to determine the claimant has a pain disorder associated with a general medical condition.  The fact the claimant suffered several injuries during the ten year period his depression and anxiety were in remission, and was able to return to work each time within a few months, is an additional factor that supports the May 24, 2005 work injury’s role as a substantial factor in causing or aggravating the claimant’s psychiatric disorders of chronic pain disorder, depression and anxiety.  

Dr. Rappaport’s contrary opinions are given less weight in part because he did not give a convincing explanation for why the claimant suffered several injuries between 1992 and 1999, and was able to return to work within a few months at most after each one, yet was not able to return to work after the May 24, 2005 work injury.  Dr. Rappaport simply stated the difference between those prior injuries and the May 24, 2005 injury was that after the prior injuries the claimant returned to work.  Such circular reasoning is not a sufficient explanation for the claimant’s different response to the injuries, and does not eliminate the work injury as a substantial factor in the claimant’s psychiatric disability.  Dr. Rappaport also opined that those with somatoform disorder in the claimant’s age group frequently organize around a minor event, as they are tired of working hard.  However, Dr. Rappaport offered no explanation for why this might be true in the claimant’s case, even if it is a phenomenon seen in others.

In summary, the claimant met his burden of proof.  The May 24, 2005 work injury is a substantial factor in causing the claimant’s chronic pain disorder and in aggravating his preexisting depression and anxiety.  Therefore, the claimant’s claim for medical benefits for his pain disorder, depression and anxiety is compensable.  The claimant is not medically stable as to these psychiatric disorders, based upon the opinions of both Dr. Early and Dr. Rappaport, as both have recommended treatment for these disabilities.  Finally, the greatest weight is given Dr. Early’s opinion, based on the discussion above, that the claimant is unable to return to work because of his psychiatric disabilities.

III. TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS

Is the claimant entitled to TTD benefits from October 25, 2005 and ongoing?

In the instant matter, the claimant asserts entitlement to TTD benefits commencing October 25, 2005 and continuing.  It must first be determined if the claimant was or was not medically stable and also unable to work during any of the period for which he is requesting TTD benefits.  As discussed above, the claimant’s following disabilities are not medically stable:  1) dental injuries, as to teeth #2 and #3; 2) TMJ/myofascial pain syndrome; 3) cervical spine; 4) balance disorder; 5) psychiatric diagnoses of pain disorder, depression, and anxiety.  

At the first stage of the presumption analysis, without regard to credibility, the claimant has raised the presumption he is unable to work and entitled to TTD benefits based on his own testimony and that of many health care providers, including Dr. Schauer, Dr. Allen, Dr. Klein, Dr. van der Ven, OTR Connolly, Dr. Grimm, Dr. Doucette, and Dr. Early.  This evidence is sufficient to raise the §120 presumption and cause it to attach to the claimant’s claim for TTD benefits.

In addressing the presumption analysis’ second step, and without regard to credibility, the employer has provided substantial evidence through the medical records and testimony of Drs. Brigham, LaMarche and Dr. Millican the claimant was able to return to his job at the time of injury as to his cervical spine disability on October 25, 2005.  As to his jaw and dental injuries, the employer has rebutted the presumption, as Dr. Zech opined the claimant could return to his job as a logging truck driver as of October 25, 2005.  Concerning his psychiatric diagnoses, the employer has not rebutted the presumption, as Dr. Rappaport opined the claimant should receive treatment and gradually resume activities of daily living.  Since the employer produced substantial evidence the claimant’s dental, TMJ/myofascial pain syndrome, and cervical spine disability have not totally disabled him from his job at the time of injury, the presumption drops out, and the claimant must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the claimant proved his claim for TTD benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.  Although the employer did not rebut the presumption as to the psychiatric disability, the claimant proved his claim for TTD benefits based upon his psychiatric disabilities by a preponderance of the evidence as well.  The preponderance of the evidence demonstrated the claimant has been totally disabled from work from the time of his work injury and ongoing.  Although EME physicians Brigham, LaMarche and Zech all opined the claimant could return to his job at the time of injury on October 25, 2005, greater reliance is placed upon the opinions of Dr. Allen, who opined on October 31, 2005, and Dr. Schauer, who opined on November 28, 2005, the claimant could not return to driving a logging truck, as both evaluated the claimant on multiple occasions and were more familiar with his disabilities.  In addition, Dr. Zech subsequently retracted his October 25, 2005 opinion the claimant could return to his job at the time of injury, when on October 30, 2007, he opined the claimant would be able to work as a mechanic.  On February 10, 2006, Dr. Schauer again opined the claimant could not work, and she also noted the claimant’s condition was worsening.  Based upon the opinions of Dr. Schauer and Dr. Allen, the claimant is entitled to TTD from October 25, 2005 to February 10, 2006 and ongoing. 

Although EME physicians Brigham, LaMarche and Millican evaluated the claimant on April 25, 2006 and opined he could return to his job at the time of injury as of October 25, 2005, their assessment did not consider the claimant’s TMJ symptoms and disability.  However, SIME physician Dr. Klein did consider the TMJ symptoms and disability in his assessment on April 27, 2006, when he concluded the claimant could not return to his job at the time of injury at that time, but predicted he should be able to after two to three months of intense therapy.  Based upon the opinion of Dr. Klein, the claimant is entitled to TTD from April 27, 2006 until two to three months after completing intense therapy for his TMJ symptoms and disability.  On November 2, 2006, Dr. Schauer again opined the claimant could not be able to return to his job as a truck driver or mechanic.  Because Dr. Schauer treated the claimant two to three times per week, and noted no changes in his condition from April 2006 through November 2006, significant enough to cause her to release him to work, the reasonable inference is made the claimant was unable to work from April 2006 through November 2006 and ongoing.  In December 2006, the claimant was diagnosed with a balance disorder in addition to his other medical problems.  There was no favorable change in the claimant’s status noted in the record from November 2006 until January 13, 2007, when Dr. van der Ven noted the claimant’s depression and anxiety, resulting from chronic pain, multiple medical problems and inability to work.  Based on Dr. Schauer’s continued restriction from work, as well as Dr. van der Ven’s statement the claimant could not work as of January 13, 2007, the claimant is entitled to TTD through January 13, 2007.  

Although Dr. Zech opined in January 2007 the claimant’s TMJ was medically stable and required no further treatment, in October 2007 he altered this opinion and recommended physical therapy to the jaw structure.  In addition, he stated the claimant could work as a mechanic, not a truck driver, his job at the time of the injury.  Based on Dr. Zech’s altered opinion, the claimant’s TMJ was not medically stable, and he could not return to his job at the time of injury as of October 2007, and was thus entitled to TTD as of October 2007, and ongoing

Based upon the entire record, it is apparent the claimant suffered from psychological issues affecting his medical condition early in the course of medical treatment for his work injury.  On September 13, 2005, Dr. Allen described the claimant’s anxiety as 7/10 and his depression as 4/10.  On January 13, 2007, Dr. van der Ven recommended evaluation for depression and anxiety, which he opined could be the result of chronic pain, multiple medical problems, and inability to work.  On December 17, 2007, Dr. Goldmann testified the claimant’s pain problem probably precluded him from working.  On April 10, 2008, Dr. van der Ven noted the claimant was suffering from depression and chronic pain.  On April 23, 2009, OTR Connolly, based on her treatment of the claimant from January 2008 to August 2008, testified the claimant would improve with therapy, but he also would require treatment for depression and anxiety.  Based on the record, it is apparent the claimant suffered from depression and anxiety, and also chronic pain, as he was being treated for his pain throughout, from the early days of treatment for his work injury until he was evaluated by Dr. Early on July 7, 2008, and ongoing.  Dr. Early opined the claimant is not capable of returning to work in any capacity because of the combined medical and psychiatric diagnoses described in his report.  Therefore, based upon “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above,” the claimant has been totally disabled from his job at the time of injury because of depression, anxiety, and pain disorder, combined with his physical injuries, since December 17, 2007, when Dr. Goldmann opined the claimant’s pain problem precluded him from working.

What is clear from the above discussion is the claimant’s medical condition is complex, with many diagnoses.  To complicate matters further, the claimant has many health care providers and evaluators, many only considering one aspect of his condition in making their determinations as to whether the claimant is medically stable and able to return to his job at the time of injury.  However, the claimant’s primary health care provider during his entire treatment for his injury has been Dr. Schauer.  She has consistently maintained the claimant has not been able to work at all, and certainly not as a mechanic or logging truck driver, since the date of his work injury.  It is Dr. Schauer who has filled the role of the primary care physician to coordinate care suggested by Dr. Grimm.  However, Dr. Schauer has been frustrated in that role as her recommendations often were not followed, and the claimant has often not been able to receive the comprehensive care addressing his physical problems as well as the psychological ones that would have allowed him to make more progress in his recovery.  Because of Dr. Schauer’s role as the primary care physician, great weight is given to her opinion, and based upon that opinion, the claimant has been totally disabled from his job at the time of injury since the May 24, 2005, work incident.  

According to the above analysis, the claimant is entitled to TTD benefits from October 25, 2005 and ongoing until he becomes medically stable or returns to work, thus changing his disability status.

IV. REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The law makes the Rehabilitation Benefits Administrator (RBA) the initial arbiter of requests for eligibility evaluations for retraining benefits, and original jurisdiction over those matters lies with him.  Nothing in the record shows either party made an eligibility evaluation request to the RBA or shows the RBA ruled on any such request.  Therefore, a party must first make a request for an eligibility evaluation to the RBA and await the RBA’s decision, which is subject to further review.  Accordingly, the claimant’s request for a rehabilitation eligibility evaluation is not properly raised or ripe for adjudication.

V. INTEREST 

Claimant has been awarded considerable past medical and TTD benefits.  Interest awards recognize the time value of money, and they give “a necessary incentive to employers to release . . . money due.”  By law, interest is mandatory, and the Court has consistently directed interest awards to injured workers for the time value of money.  Accordingly, the claimant’s request for interest is granted and he is entitled to statutory interest from the employer at the rate applicable to his date of injury.

AS 23.30.095(l) requires the board to order payment of medical expenses reasonably incurred for treatment of a condition that is found compensable.  AS 23.30.155(p) and our regulation at 8 AAC 45.142 require the payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided at AS 09.30.070(a), from the date at which each installment of compensation, including TTD and medical compensation, is due.
  The courts have consistently instructed the board to award interest to claimants for the time-value of money, as a matter of course.
  Accordingly, TTD, unpaid out-of-pocket medical expenses (including medically-related transportation expenses) and interest are awarded to the claimant, and as unpaid medical bills, interest is awarded to the unpaid provider, in accord with former AS 23.30.095(l), AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142, on all unpaid benefits awarded by this decision, from the dates on which those benefits were due.  

The parties have not submitted calculation of the amounts, supported by itemization, of:

· medical bills paid out-of-pocket by the employee or by another health insurance plan (including Medicare and Medicaid)

· unpaid medical bills

· medically-related transportation expenses

· interest due on TTD

· interest due to the employee on out-of-pocket payment of medical bills and medically-related transportation expenses

· interest due to a medical provider or another health insurance plan (including Medicare and Medicaid).  

Jurisdiction is maintained over any disputes that arise concerning the payment of the benefits and any interest due pursuant to this Decision and Order. 
VI. ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS

Based on review of the record, the employer controverted the claimant’s claim, and the claimant’s attorney has successfully obtained benefits for the claimant.  This case was complex, vigorously defended by the employer, and litigated over a very long period of time.  Specifically, we find the claimant’s attorney effectively prosecuted the claimant’s entitlement to a large portion of the medical and TTD benefits requested.  Attorney's fees may be awarded under AS 23.30.145(b).  

AS 23.30.145(b) requires the award of attorney's fee and costs be reasonable.  The regulation 8 AAC 45.180(d) requires a fee awarded under AS 23.30.145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed.  It also requires that the Board consider the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, as well as the benefits resulting from the services.  In the awards of attorney fees and costs, the Board attempts to recognize the experience and skills exercised on behalf of injured workers, and to compensate the attorneys accordingly.
  

In light of these factors, the record of this case was examined.  The claimant’s counsel’s affidavits of fees and costs and statement at the hearing itemize $87,508.00 in attorney fees for Attorney Michael Patterson, and $22,618.63 in costs.  The claimed hourly rate of $340.00 is within the reasonable range for experienced employees’ counsel in other cases,
 based on expertise and years of experience.  The claimant’s counsel’s brief and arguments at hearing have been of great benefit in considering the disputes in this matter.  This is a contested case, and this hourly rate is reasonable.  We will award actual attorney fees at the rate of $340.00 per hour, paralegal fees at $115.00 per hour.

However, the claimant did not prevail in his claim that he suffered a brain injury or neurocogntive deficit as a result of a brain injury arising from and in the course of his work with the employer.  He also did not prevail in his claim for his low back pain or CTS.  Therefore, the attorney fees and costs are reduced by the amounts that can be attributed to those claims.  Specifically, the fees and costs pertaining to Dr. Perrillo, Dr. Muscatel and Dr. Goldmann will not be approved, as follows: 1) $390.00 on November 26, 2007; 2) $180.00 on December 9, 2007; 3) $900.00 on December 14, 2007; 4) $1,380.00 deposition preparation on December 16, 2007; 5) Dr. Perrillo’s $5,000.00 fee charged on November 30, 2007; 6) $1,474.00 in travel costs to depose Dr. Perrillo charged on December 13, 2007; 7) $614.48 in deposition costs for Dr. Perrillo on January 15, 2008; 8) $614.48 deposition costs for Dr. Goldmann on January 15, 2008; 9) $68.00 costs for sending reports to Perrillo, April 1, 2009; totaling $10,620.96.  The attorney fees and costs will be reduced by $10,620.96 for the brain injury/neurocognitive deficit portion of the claim, leaving a total of $99,505.94.  The attorney fees and costs will be further reduced by 1% of $99,505.94, or $995.06, for failing to prevail on the claims for low back pain and CTS.
Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the benefits resulting from the services, the above-mentioned attorney fees are reasonable for the successful prosecution of the claimant’s claim for benefits, with reductions for that portion of the claim upon which the claimant did not prevail, and a total of $98,510.88 as reasonable attorney fees, paralegal fees, and costs will be awarded.  Attorney Michael Patterson is entitled to $98,510.88 in attorney fees and costs.
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The claimant is an hourly worker, not an exclusively seasonal worker, and AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(A) is the appropriate statutory provision for calculating his compensation rate. 

2. The claimant is entitled to past and ongoing medical benefits and related transportation costs for the following:  1) sensitivity of upper right teeth #2 and #3; 2) cervical spine; 3) TMJ/myofascial pain syndrome; 4) pain disorder; 5) depression; 6) anxiety. 

3. The claimant’s claim for ongoing medical benefits and related transportation costs for his low back disability and CTS disability are denied. 

4. The claim for a vocational rehabilitation eligibility evaluation is not properly raised and ripe for adjudication.

5. The claimant is entitled to an award of TTD from October 25, 2005, and continuing until he is deemed medically stable or returns to work, changing his disability status.

6. The claimant is entitled to an award of interest.

7. The claimant’s attorney is entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs. 



ORDERS

1. The employer shall calculate and pay the claimant’s compensation rate pursuant to AS 23.30.220(a)(4)(A).

2. The employer is ordered to pay past and ongoing medical benefits and transportation costs for treatment of: 1) the dental injury of sensitivity of the upper right teeth #2 and #3; 2) the cervical spine disability; 3) TMJ/myofascial pain syndrome disability; and 4) the pain disorder, depression and anxiety disabilities.

3. The employer is ordered to pay the claimant TTD benefits from October 25, 2005 through the present and ongoing until such time as the claimant reaches medical stability or returns to work.

4. The employer is ordered to pay statutory interest at the rate applicable to the claimant’s date of injury for all past benefits unpaid when due.  
5. We reserve jurisdiction on any disputes over the precise amount of medical benefits, medically-related transportation benefits, TTD benefits, and interest, ordered in this decision.

6. The employer is ordered to pay Attorney Michael Patterson attorney fees and costs in the amount of $98,510.88.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on December 23, 2009.
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If compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.
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